

What are the outcomes of burnout interventions that include a sleep hygiene practice? A systematic review

Hannah Geary

A dissertation submitted to Auckland University of Technology in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Bachelor of Health Science Honours in Psychology November 11<sup>th</sup>, 2022 Faculty of Health and Environmental Sciences

Primary supervisor - Dr Claire O'Donovan

## ATTESTATION OF AUTHORSHIP

I hereby declare that this submission is my own work and that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, it contains no material previously published or written by another person (except where explicitly defined in the acknowledgements) nor material which to a substantial extent has been accepted for the award of any other degree or diploma of a university or other institution of higher learning.

Hannah Geary 11<sup>th</sup> Nov 2022

## ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Firstly, a big thank you to my supervisor, Dr Claire O'Donovan, for your amazing support and encouragement throughout the year. Thank you for devoting your time to help mentor me and provide valuable feedback. I have really enjoyed working with you and hope to continue to explore this area of interest.

I am thankful for my new classmates and friends during this first year at AUT who have made me feel welcomed and supported.

I would also like to say how grateful I am for the support and encouragement of my other friends, family, and flat mates throughout this year who have helped me to maintain my motivation. To my mother, thank you for keeping me grounded and constantly reminding me that I've got this! To Claudia, my best friend and flat mate, thank you for constantly being there for me throughout this journey, I would not have wanted anyone else there by my side!

## **CONFLICTS OF INTEREST**

No potential conflicts of interest to declare.

## FUNDING

No funding support for the research of this review.

# CONTENTS

Acknowledgements2
Lists4
Lists of figures4
Lists of tables4
Abstract5
Introduction and rationalisation7
Burnout7
Sleep12
The nursing profession14
Sleep hygiene15
Methods
Research design and methodology18
Eligibility criteria
Search strategy
Data extraction21
Assessment of article quality via critical appraisal22
Risk of bias assessment
Results
Literature search and selection process
Study selection and characteristics25
Research design and risk of bias47
Assessment of risk of bias
Discussion53
Administration of sleep hygiene practices53
Measurements used
Limitations
Summary and recommendations60
Conclusion61
References63

## LISTS

# Lists of figures

Figure 1. Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA	
2020) flow diagram demonstrating the systematic search method for identification, screening,	
eligibility, and inclusion of articles in the systematic review. N=number23	5
Figure 2. Risk of bias summary for randomised studies using the RoB2 tool52	2
Figure 3. Risk of bias summary for non-randomised studies using the ROBINS-I tool	2

## List of tables

Table 1. Characteristics and outcomes of studies of burnout interventions that include a st	leep
hygiene practice(s)	29
Table 2. Main findings of the included studies	42

## ABSTRACT

**Background:** A bi-directional relationship between poor sleep and burnout has been illustrated in existing literature, with nurses being highly susceptible to experiencing both, given the nature of their work. This systematic review sets out to identify and assess the literature to explore the outcomes of burnout interventions for nurses that include sleep hygiene practices. The purpose of this review is to generate insight into how sleep hygiene is contextualised and which types of interventions are more effective at supporting the well-being of nurses.

**Methods/design:** Systematic searches of English language peer-reviewed journals were conducted in four databases; MEDLINE, CINAHL Complete, Scopus, and PsycINFO using keywords related to burnout, interventions, and nurses. Throughout June and July 2022, the database searches were carried out. 1,239 studies were identified, with publication dates ranging from 2015-2022.

**Results:** 12 studies met the inclusion criteria, and thus, were included in this review. Using key headings, the relevant data from each study was placed into tables. Half of the studies found significant improvements on at least one dimension of burnout. Sleep hygiene practices that were incorporated into the interventions included mindfulness, yoga, meditation practices, progressive muscle relaxation, and the inhalation of essential oils. Combining multiple sleep hygiene practices into an intervention seems to be helpful in reducing burnout amongst nurses. **Discussion:** Individual interventions such as gong meditation, inhaling patchouli oil, and yoga require further research to support their effectiveness in alleviating burnout in nurses. There is also limited evidence to establish conclusions around which of these interventions are more effective than others due to several limitations that have been identified in this review, including the difficulty in making comparisons between the interventions due to the heterogeneity of burnout measurement tools used and the lack of detailed descriptions about the administration of particular interventions. In addition, majority of the studies included in this review were pilot studies, so this causes further difficulty to make conclusions because the effectiveness of these interventions cannot be based on pilot data alone. Thus, further research and replication is needed in this area.

Keywords: Burnout, sleep hygiene, interventions, nurses, outcomes, administration.

## INTRODUCTION AND RATIONALISATION

#### **Burnout**

Defined as an ongoing psychological reaction to chronic mental, emotional, and interpersonal stressors on the job, burnout places the individual's stress experience within the context of their workplace (Maslach et al., 2001). Burnout is often characterised by three basic dimensions; emotional exhaustion, detachment from the job, and diminished personal accomplishment (Maslach et al., 2001). Emotional exhaustion is characterised by an individual lacking a sufficient amount of energy and feeling as though their emotional resources have been depleted (Cordes & Dougherty, 1993). Detachment from the job refers to expressing cynicism towards co-workers, clients, and the organisation, using derogatory language, and withdrawing (Cordes & Dougherty, 1993). The third dimension, diminished personal accomplishment, is when an individual tends to view themselves negatively, and experiences a decline in job competence and a sense of achievement at work (Cordes & Dougherty, 1993).

The literature generally supports a sequential theory that proposes that these dimensions, exhaustion, detachment, and lack of accomplishment, occur in sequential stages (Cordes & Dougherty, 1993). It has been suggested that the onset of emotional exhaustion is first to develop with excessive work demands draining the workers' emotional resources (Cordes & Dougherty, 1993). This is followed by individuals detaching themselves from the job as a defensive coping strategy, limiting their involvement with co-workers and distancing themselves psychologically (Cordes & Dougherty, 1993). Finally, they experience a sense of inadequacy because they are unable to relate to others around them or perform their jobs in the same productive manner as they had initially (Cordes & Dougherty, 1993).

The Maslach Burnout Inventory (MBI) (Maslach & Jackson, 1981) was the first scientifically developed psychological assessment tool to measure burnout (Schaufeli et al., 1994). It is in the form of a self-report survey which can be applicable within any occupation, particularly for those in human services, health care, and education (Maslach & Jackson, 1981). The MBI has 22 items. Examples of items that sit within the emotional exhaustion category include, 'I feel emotionally drained at work' (Maslach & Jackson, 1981). The depersonalisation items include, 'I've become more callous towards people since I took this job' (Maslach & Jackson, 1981), and items measuring the personal accomplishment category include, 'I deal effectively with the problems of my recipients' (Maslach & Jackson, 1981). There are two responses per item, the first measures the frequency of occurrence, which ranges from 1 (a few times a year) to 6 (everyday). The second measures the intensity of each item experienced from 1 (very mild) to 7 (very strong) (Cordes & Dougherty, 1993). The individual must score high on the exhaustion dimension (equivalent to 27 or over) when using the MBI in combination with a high score on depersonalisation (equivalent to 13 or over), or a low score on personal accomplishment (equivalent to 30 or less) (El-Ibiary et al., 2017).

According to Ekstedt (2005), the Swedish version of the Diagnostic Statistical Manual (DSM) has included a supplementary diagnosis of burnout in which it considers an individual to be clinically burnt out when they experience physiological or mental symptoms of exhaustion, difficulties concentrating, irritability, a decreased ability to cope with stress, sleep disturbances, pain, aches, dizziness and/or palpitations on a regular basis. These symptoms must cause significant clinical suffering, impair an individual's capability of managing issues that arise in the workplace, and cannot be attributed to other psychiatric disorders, substance abuse, or a medical diagnosis (Ekstedt, 2005). However, despite this diagnosis, burnout as a condition is still yet to be globally recognised.

The literature suggests that several factors precipitate the onset of burnout, and these factors appear to fall into three categories, occupational, interpersonal, and individual (Maslach et al., 2001). Research has found that occupational factors that contribute to this phenomenon include excessive work overload, lack of workplace support, decreased autonomy at work, and emotional challenges of working intensively with other people in a caregiving role (Maslach et al., 2001). These factors contribute not only to the depersonalisation dimension of burnout (Maslach et al., 2001), but an increased workload was found to have a strong link to emotional exhaustion (Maslach et al., 2001). This highlights the importance of individuals being able to

recover from work demands and the consequences if they have limited opportunity to rest, recover, and restore balance (Maslach et al., 2001).

An interpersonal factor that appears to precipitate burnout is the inadequacy of a support system outside of the workplace, such as having no spouse, partner, or children (Patel et al., 2018), or the lack of support received despite having a family system present (Sabagh et al., 2018). Research has found that supportive family resources can alleviate burnout or prevent its development by the family system acknowledging the burnout symptoms that the member is experiencing to be a problem, and then actively bringing in coping resources and support to help that individual alleviate their burnout symptoms to a more manageable level (Leiter, 1990).

Individual factors play a key role in determining a person's risk of developing burnout, such as having current or past experiences of trait anxiety, depression, unstable emotions, and a proneness to psychological distress (Maslach et al., 2001). Personality traits including selfcriticism, perfectionism, and idealism were also associated with burnout (Patel et al., 2018). Demographic variables like gender and age can make a person more susceptible to experiencing burnout (Patel et al., 2018). For example, females and those of a younger age, were found to be at greater risk of developing burnout symptoms (Patel et al., 2018). However, lifestyle behaviours can act as moderators for the likelihood of burnout occurring, such as increased levels of physical activity, better quality diet, an increased use of stress management techniques, and lower levels of alcohol, caffeine, and nicotine intake (Cecil et al., 2014).

The consequences of burnout can be described within the same three categories as the precipitating factors, occupational, interpersonal, and individual. Occupational consequences include a higher turnover rate when individuals consider giving up the profession, absenteeism, and an increase in workplace-related injuries (Maslach et al., 2001). Herda & Lavelle (2012) found that within their study that included a sample of auditors, burnout was positively correlated with turnover intention. This could be explained in part due to burnt-out auditors viewing their firm in adversarial terms, leading to complete avoidance of their workplace by

seeking employment somewhere else (Fogarty et al., 2000). The association between burnout and absenteeism is one in which those who scored high on depersonalisation were the ones to have missed a greater number of days from work without a genuine reason (Gil-Monte, 2008). Studies looking at the link between burnout and workplace-related injuries show that the rate of severe injuries both on and off the job increases when burnout is experienced (Genly, 2016). Statistics reveal that when the MBI score increases per unit, the risk of severe injuries increases by 10% (Genly, 2016).

Work-related stressors can interfere with the individual's home or family life (the interpersonal category), resulting in work-home conflict (Bacharach et al., 1991). This is a common phenomenon that relates to the idea that those who work a greater number of hours per week, have more children to care for, and lack management support, would be more likely to experience tension outside of their work life (Bacharach et al., 1991). This is also associated with burnout, as a study which looked at a sample of physicians found that within the last three weeks, those who engaged in a work-home conflict had a greater likelihood of 50% to report symptoms of emotional exhaustion and a greater likelihood of 30% to report symptoms of depersonalisation at least weekly, compared to those who did not experience a work-home conflict (Dyrbye et al., 2011). Increased odds of burnout were independently associated with the following; each supplementary hour worked per week, experience of a work-home conflict in the last three weeks, and resolving the most recent work-home conflict in favour of work (Dyrbye et al., 2011).

Time-based conflict and strain-based conflict are two antecedents of work-home conflict (Bacharach et al., 1991). Time-based conflict refers to the idea that if an individual devotes too much time to one role, this causes them difficulty to carry out the requirements of another role (Bacharach et al., 1991). This can have implications with the amount of time that an individual can devote to priorities outside of work, such as friends and family (Bacharach et al., 1991). Within the context of burnout, this can cause problems at home, reducing an

10

individual's overall capacity to deal with issues that may arise at work, resulting in the potential to further exacerbate burnout symptoms (Bacharach et al., 1991).

Strain-based conflict refers to the idea that the strain established in one role impacts upon the individual's ability to perform in another role (Bacharach et al., 1991). For example, experiencing role-conflict at work, two or more pressures related to the workplace that occur at the same time, can lead to the individual expressing negative attitudes and behaviours at home (Bacharach et al., 1991). This relates to the 'spill-over' notion which refers to the idea that work-based role stress will have direct effects on affective work outcomes, like burnout, whilst disruptions in the individual's home life will 'spill-over' into the workplace, creating lower levels of job satisfaction (Bacharach et al., 1991).

Workers experiencing burnout were evaluated in a more negative manner by their spouses (Maslach & Jackson, 1981). Research has found that within a sample of male police officers, those who got a high score on emotional exhaustion were evaluated by their partners (generally wives) as coming home expressing sadness, anger, tension, anxiety, physical exhaustion, and complaining about problems at work (Maslach & Jackson, 1981). However, the officers who got a high score on personal accomplishment were evaluated by their partners as coming home expressing cheerfulness and happiness, and acknowledged that they felt a sense of pride in the work they engaged in (Maslach & Jackson, 1981). The officers who had a high score on emotional exhaustion were also found to withdraw from their friends, reduce their socialising, and found it difficult to shake off their professional role when they left the job (Maslach & Jackson, 1981). Thus, demonstrating that burnout can result in negative impacts on individuals' home and family lives (Cordes & Dougherty, 1993).

The consequences of burnout, for the individual, are wide reaching. They can include poor functioning and performance within the job, and job dissatisfaction (Suñer-Soler et al., 2014). This is associated with the depersonalisation dimension of burnout, how effectively one performs and functions within their job. Burnout can precipitate mental health problems such as depression, irritability, anxiety, alcohol dependence, substance abuse, helplessness, and a decline in self-esteem (Cordes & Dougherty, 1993). There are also physical health problems that can develop which include fatigue, headaches, sleep disorders, chronic insomnia, and gastrointestinal disturbances (Cordes & Dougherty, 1993).

Interventions used to address burnout have incorporated both an individual and organisational approach (Le Blanc & Schaufeli, 2008). In terms of individual approaches, these have typically been aimed at combating stress rather than burnout itself, and include relaxation techniques like mindfulness and meditation training, the promotion of a healthy lifestyle, and cognitive behavioural techniques such as cognitive restructuring and stress inoculation training (Le Blanc & Schaufeli, 2008; Maslach et al., 2012). The organisational approaches focused on job redesign, building co-worker support, career counselling, mentoring and assistance, communication skills training, and on-site and off-site retreats (Henry, 1969; Le Blanc & Schaufeli, 2008; Maslach et al., 2012). However, within the literature, from an individual-level, sleep has been established as a key factor in burnout (Ekstedt, 2005).

## Sleep

Sleep is one basic need that all people share. It is "a recurring reversible neuro-behavioural state of relative perceptual disengagement from and unresponsiveness to the environment" (Buysse, 2014, p.2). The role of sleep is deemed vital for everyday functioning because it helps to restore energy and wellbeing, foster learning, strengthen memory capacity, and support immune functioning (Riegel & Weaver, 2009). Excessive daytime sleepiness is experienced when the quantity or quality of sleep is insufficient, reflecting chronic sleep loss (Riegel & Weaver, 2009).

Poor sleep can be attributed to both intrinsic and extrinsic factors (Lo et al., 2017). Intrinsic factors include tension, stress, worry, pre-sleep cognitive arousal, and work-home conflict (Lo et al., 2017). Extrinsic factors include the environment in terms of noise, light, and room temperature, the consumption of alcohol, caffeine, and other stimulants, the frequency and intensity of exercise throughout the day, jet lag, and shift work (Lo et al., 2017; Shao et al., 2010).

Poor sleep negatively affects psychosocial, physical, and occupational functioning (Riegel & Weaver, 2009). For example, significant improvements in motor performance were observed after a night of sleep, and these improvements were seen in individuals who spent a shorter amount of time falling asleep and in those who remained asleep for longer (Walker, 2008). Sleep also heavily affects memory capacity and learning processes, with findings highlighting that memory retention is more effective after a good night's sleep which is crucial for effective motor skills (Walker, 2008). Thus, disturbances in mood, inefficiencies in the cognitive domain, impairments in motor skills and performance, and a reduction in productivity, can be attributed to poor sleep (Riegel & Weaver, 2009). Therefore, it is recommended that individuals maintain a healthy volume of sleep, between seven and nine hours per night (Fullagar et al., 2015).

Burnout and sleep appear to have a bidirectional relationship in which burnout symptoms can prevent sleep from occurring, whilst insufficient sleep could be a contributing factor of burnout (Stewart & Arora, 2019). For example, previous studies have found that people with burnout symptoms that have lasted for six months or more, experienced a longer time trying to fall asleep, frequent early morning awakening, waking up still feeling tired, and greater difficulties sustaining consistent sleep, compared to those without burnout symptoms (Ekstedt, 2005). Other studies looking at the impact of sleep on burnout found that daytime sleepiness was associated with increased emotional exhaustion and cynical attitudes (Pagnin et al., 2014). Thus, poor sleep is both an antecedent and a consequence of burnout.

#### The nursing profession

Nurses comprise the largest constituent of the health care workforce in most countries (Goodare, 2017). They have been deemed to be more at risk of experiencing burnout than other work professions, with an estimated prevalence of 52% (Zhang et al., 2018). More than 50% of shift-

working nurses report severe sleep disturbances, which is considered a risk factor for developing burnout, as well as the potential for harm to their patients (Shao et al., 2010). Irregular work schedules tend to disrupt the normal circadian rhythm, which causes an individual to experience sleepiness when awake, and insomnia during the main sleep episode (Shao et al., 2010). Nurses may also be involved in working consecutive shifts whereby a sufficient amount of sleep has not been fulfilled (Shao et al., 2010). This can have detrimental effects for these individuals as poor sleep has been hypothesised as a mechanism that contributes to burnout (Stewart & Arora, 2019). Poor sleep can also negatively impact upon nurses' interpersonal relationships with family, friends, coworkers, and the level of patient care they provide in the workplace (Aiken et al., 2002; Ilhan et al., 2008).

Other factors that contribute to nurses burning out include working long hours, an extensive range of tasks to carry out, challenging relationships with patients, their families, doctors, and other co-workers, and dissatisfaction with working conditions (Ilhan et al., 2008). Thus, nurses, with the high work demands, the mental and emotional strain of providing care to patients and their families, and the shift work they engage in, are understandably more susceptible to the onset of burnout symptoms.

In terms of the organisational consequences of this, research has found that patients believed to be receiving lower levels of care from those nurses who were experiencing higher levels of burnout (Aiken et al., 2002). The risk of patient mortality increased when nurses were experiencing those higher levels of burnout and had a greater patient workload (Aiken et al., 2002). Overall, nurses are prime candidates for experiencing both poor sleep quality and burnout symptoms. This emphasises the need to target interventions that promote sleep hygiene practices for nurses, because given the literature has highlighted that insufficient sleep contributes to burnout (Stewart & Arora, 2019) and sleep hygiene promotes better quality sleep (Malone, 2011), sleep hygiene practices could be effective in improving burnout for nurses.

#### **Sleep hygiene**

Sleep hygiene can be defined as daily living practices that foster adequate sleep and functioning throughout the daytime (Malone, 2011). Thus, sleep hygiene can be seen as an umbrella term used to encompass a diverse set of conditions and behaviours, rather than a uniform treatment approach (Malone, 2011). These practices include creating a dark, quiet, cool bedroom environment, minimising light-emitted technologies, keeping a sleep diary (Clifford, 2018), avoiding caffeine, nicotine, and alcohol in the hours prior to sleeping, maintaining a regular wake and sleep schedule, limiting daytime naps (Irish et al., 2015), modifications to diet (Vitale et al., 2019), and the avoidance of eating in the late evening (Stepanski & Wyatt, 2003).

Other sleep hygiene recommendations include inhaling essential oils, drinking herbal tea before bed, listening to music or nature sounds before going to sleep (Silverstro & Dalton, 2021), regular exercise during the day, and slowing down the physiological arousal in the evening by using mindfulness and other relaxation strategies (Stepanski & Wyatt, 2003). These relaxation strategies include guided meditation, stretching, taking a warm bath/shower, journaling, reading (Clifford, 2018), progressive muscle relaxation, guided imagery, and abdominal breathing (Royal et al., 2018). Thus, sleep hygiene practices can be classified as alterations to the bedroom environment and engaging in certain behavioural elements.

Sleep hygiene practices significantly predict sleep quality (Brown et al., 2002). Rather than just the knowledge and education around sleep hygiene, it was found that the application of sleep hygiene practices was strongly linked to sufficient overall sleep quality (Brown et al., 2002). For example, Innes & Selfe (2012) looked at the effects of an eight-week yoga program on sleep quality amongst a group of older women with restless leg syndrome (RLS). This sample is of particular interest given that compared to those without RLS, women with RLS showed significant reductions in sleep quality, a greater prevalence of insomnia (85% versus 38% for those without RLS), and slept for a shorter period of time. Within the intervention, it was found that compared to those in the control group who engaged in an educational film program for eight weeks, the prevalence of insomnia significantly reduced overtime for those in the yoga group (Innes & Selfe, 2012). They also demonstrated large improvements in their sleep quality, sleep duration, sleep efficiency, sleep disturbances, and daytime dysfunction (Innes & Selfe, 2012).

Mindfulness and other relaxation strategies have been found to be beneficial for sleep (Black et al., 2015; Liu et al., 2020; Stepanski & Wyatt, 2003). Mindfulness is "the ability to attend to thoughts and emotions as they arise and to be fully conscious of the present-moment experience (Schure et al., 2008, p.47). Mindfulness meditation programs have been found to improve sleep disturbances by increasing the relaxation response through its function of increasing attentional factors that play a role in controlling the autonomic nervous system, reducing worry and rumination, and alleviating mood disturbances (Black et al., 2015). Huberty et al (2021) tested the efficacy of a treatment for sleep-related symptoms in adults with sleep disturbances using a mindfulness-meditation mobile app. They found that after using the app for eight weeks, this significantly reduced fatigue and sleepiness during the day, and cognitive and somatic arousal before bedtime (Huberty et al., 2021). Over the course of the intervention, it was reported that compared to the control group, those who used the app were also able to fall asleep faster and were able to sleep for longer (Huberty et al., 2021).

The inhalation of essential oils has been found to have positive effects for those with mild to moderate sleep disturbances (Lillehei & Halcon, 2014). Amongst a systematic review including 15 studies assessing the hypnotic effects of the inhalation of essential oils on sleep, most studies found a positive association between the two, as lavender oil, peppermint oil, and jasmine oil produced statistically significant results for improved sleep quality (Lillehei & Halcon, 2014). Samadi et al (2021) assessed the effectiveness of aromatherapy with lavender essential oils on the sleep quality of patients with depression and sleep disorders, and found that after 14 consecutive nights of inhalation, compared to the control group who received almond essential oil as the placebo, those in the experimental group showed a statistically significant improvement in their sleep quality.

Thus, sleep hygiene interventions have been found to enhance sleep quality, not only for the general population, but for those populations who are also more prone to experiencing sleep difficulties. Therefore, this review seeks to assess the effectiveness of interventions that have been established to reduce burnout in nurses, focusing specifically on the outcomes of those that include a sleep hygiene practice.

Burnout is of particular relevance given the context of the COVID-19 worldwide pandemic. This is especially important for nurses because given they are the frontline health workers, they directly treat and care for the patients (Galanis et al., 2021). Despite nurses already presenting with moderate to high levels of burnout prior to the outbreak of COVID-19, the pandemic has escalated the frequency and intensity of these symptoms (Galanis et al., 2021). This is because nurses are now under constant psychological pressure as they are particularly at risk to the exposure of COVID-19, becoming fearful for the safety of their own health, their families, and their patients (Galanis et al., 2021). Moreover, this has coincided with a reduction in social support through social distancing and isolation (Galanis et al., 2021). Thus, greater job demands, the increased threat of COVID-19, and the lack of social support during the COVID-19 pandemic, has exacerbated nurses' stress in the workplace (Galanis et al., 2021).

This review seeks to investigate how sleep hygiene practices are framed within interventions, and whether burnout scores improve or not when they are used. By looking through previous literature, there is an extensive range focusing on the association between burnout and nurses, and nurses' poor sleep quality. However, it was found that there was yet to have been a systematic review assessing the outcomes of burnout interventions that focus on sleep hygiene practices.

#### **METHODS**

#### **Research design and methodology**

A systematic review is defined as a "robust, reproducible, structured, critical synthesis of existing research" (Munn et al., 2018, p.2). They are considered the gold standard for retrieving, collecting, assessing, and summarising the best evidence to date regarding a clinical question (Munn et al., 2018). The most popular type of systematic reviews are effectiveness reviews. The extent to which an intervention or therapy, when used appropriately, achieves its intended effect is assessed when using this type of review (Munn et al., 2018).

This type of systematic review draws upon a positivist paradigm (Grant & Giddings, 2002). The idea that knowledge is objective, static, and measurable forms the theory around this positivist approach (Grant & Giddings, 2002). Thus, the use of randomised controlled trials become the most highly valued study design to focus on, producing the best evidence (Grant & Giddings, 2002). A primary goal of a positivist research paradigm is to investigate the effectiveness of independent variables on dependent variables, as was the aim of this review, assessing the different types of burnout interventions that included a sleep hygiene practice and the impact these had on the burnout levels of nurses (Grant & Giddings, 2002).

A systematic literature review was selected as the most suitable methodology for this study to address the research question because it provided a thorough view of the evidence (Moher et al., 2009). This will generate insight into which types of sleep hygiene interventions are more successful for treating burnout in nurses and provide guidance around how best to administer those interventions.

### **Eligibility criteria**

The Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) guidelines were used to help plan how the search process would be carried out. The PRISMA statement provided an outline of the different phases that needed to be implemented in a stepby-step procedure when conducting the systematic review. These included the identification of articles through database searching, screening of those articles, eligibility of which articles to include and exclude, resulting in the final number of articles to be included in the review (Moher et al., 2009). Eligibility criteria was defined using the PICO format (Eriksen & Frandsen, 2018). This was used to help determine that the population to be studied would be nurses; the burnout interventions that included a sleep hygiene practice would be those of interest; different sleep hygiene practices would be compared; and the outcome measure would be whether there was a reduction in the burnout levels of nurses.

#### **Inclusion criteria**

Included in the review, were studies that met the following inclusion criteria:

- 1. Published in English language
- 2. Full text available
- 3. Randomised controlled trials/cluster of randomised controlled trials and/or
- 4. Pre and post-test studies and/or
- 5. Experimental designs/cluster experimental designs and/or
- 6. Pilot studies
- 7. Used burnout and/or emotional exhaustion as an outcome measure
- 8. Used interventions with the aim of treating or reducing burnout
- 9. Included only qualified nurses
- 10. Included one or more sleep hygiene practices: mindfulness, a form of exercise, a relaxation strategy (progressive muscle relaxation, guided meditation, stretching, taking a warm bath/shower, journaling, reading, guided imagery, or abdominal breathing), alterations to the bedroom environment, minimising light-emitting technologies before bed, sleep diaries, avoiding stimulants in the evening, regular sleep/wake times, modifications to diet and the timing of meals, inhaling essential oils, or consuming a herbal remedy
- Included only a sleep hygiene practice(s) within the intervention not other components unrelated to sleep hygiene

## **Exclusion criteria**

Studies were excluded if:

- 1. Not published in English language
- 2. Full text not available
- Used other types of study designs (e.g. reviews, editorial or opinion pieces, and nonpeer reviewed literature)
- 4. Included other types of health care professionals
- 5. Included other components within the intervention that were not sleep hygiene related

To ensure a thorough accumulation of the evidence of the outcomes of burnout in nurses, all studies that used burnout as an outcome measure, whether it be primary or secondary, were included in this review, with burnout being the primary outcome measure of interest for this review. Due to authors using a variety of terms, 'emotional exhaustion' was another example of a term used in place of burnout, whilst 'programs', 'strategies', 'treatments', and 'practices' were other examples of terms used in place of interventions. In encompassing all of these terms, 'burnout' and 'interventions' were used as the primary terms throughout this literature review and discussion. No publication date limits were set as this review intended to collect all available evidence on the topic.

## Search strategy

Key search terms were entered into the following online databases: CINAHL Complete and MEDLINE (using EBSCO Health as the host platform), Scopus, and Ovid (PsychINFO). Throughout the months of June and July 2022, the database searches were carried out. The strategy for this search was established to encompass a collection of terms relating to nurses, interventions, and burnout.

In the database search bars, group terms were entered into separate fields or combined with 'AND' between each group. The terms that were used in the search were:

- Term 1: (burnout OR "emotional exhaustion") N5 (intervention\* OR program\* OR strateg\* OR treatment\*) – N5 was used for EBSCO Health database, W/5 for Scopus, and ADJ5 for Psychinfo
- Term 2: nurse or nurses
- Term 3: RCT or "randomi\* control\* trial\*" or "randomi\* control\* stud\*" or "experiment\* design\*" or "experiment\* stud\*" or "experiment\* trial\*" or quasi\* or "pilot stud\*"

Using quotation marks enabled the search to look for phrases rather than just words. The Boolean operators (AND, OR) enabled concepts to be linked together. The use of brackets and proximity searches helped the search to be narrowed down, ensuring that the word burnout, or alternative words for burnout, were within five words or less to the word intervention, or alternative words for intervention, and within five words or less to the word nurse or nurses. This helped the search results to be reduced to a lower and more manageable number.

## **Data extraction**

An excel spreadsheet was set up that included column headings to ensure that consistency was sustained throughout the data extraction process. Final studies that met eligibility criteria after reading the text in full had the data that was relevant for each column extracted with one row per article. As documented in Table 1, the following column headings assisted with the data extraction process: 'Author(s), publication year, and country', 'Method', 'Sample size and participant characteristics', 'Intervention, 'Control group', 'Measure'. The main findings were documented in a separate table (Table 2).

## Assessment of article quality via critical appraisal

The articles were assessed for their quality using the Critical Appraisal Skills Programme [CASP] (n.d.) as the guideline. The CASP requires the researcher to carefully appraise their articles, assess the results of each study, whether the results are valid, and if the results can help locally (Critical Appraisal Skills Programme Systematic Review Checklist, 2021). This encourages the researcher to critically evaluate the articles that have the potential to be included in the systematic review by looking at the objective of the study, whether it is relevant to the research question being asked, whether the results are precise, and whether all important outcomes were considered.

#### **Risk of bias assessment**

The risk of bias for each study was assessed in alignment with the Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions (Boutron et al., 2019). For the randomised studies (Alexander et al., 2015; Hsieh et al., 2022; Shin et al., 2020), they were assessed on five types of bias; bias arising from the randomisation process (including whether there were differences at baseline between the intervention and control groups), bias due to deviations from intended interventions (including whether single or double blinding was involved), bias due to missing outcome data, bias in measurement of the outcome, and bias in the selection of the reported results (Higgins et al., 2019). This assessment was carried out using the RoB2 tool which assesses the risk of bias in a single estimate of an intervention effect reported from a randomised study (Sterne et al., 2019). Risk was judged as low, high, or having some concerns.

For the non-randomised studies (Bazarko et al., 2013; Duarte & Pinto-Gouveia, 2016; Gauthier et al., 2015; Lynes et al., 2019; Montanari et al., 2019; Pan et al., 2019; Patronis & Staffileno, 2021; Qualls et al., 2022; Veiga et al., 2019), these were assessed on the following seven domains of bias; bias due to confounding, bias in selection of participants, bias in classification of interventions, bias due to deviations from intended interventions, bias due to missing data, bias in measurement outcomes, and bias in the selection of reported results (Sterne et al., 2019). This assessment was carried out using the ROBINS-I tool which evaluates the risk of bias in estimates of the comparative effects of interventions from studies that did not use

22

randomisation to assign individuals to the comparison groups (Sterne et al., 2016). Risk was judged as low, moderate, serious, or critical.

## RESULTS

### Literature search and selection process

As shown in Figure 1, MEDLINE and CINAHL Complete retrieved 437 articles (using EBSCO Health as the host platform), Scopus 74, and Ovid (PsychINFO) 728, resulting in a total of 1,239 articles. Following the initial search, these articles were limited to the text being available in full form, to have been published in English, and to have been peer-reviewed, removing 243 articles. These articles were then exported into a reference managing software system where this removed 65 duplicates and an additional 10 duplicates were removed by human effort, tallying to 921 articles. Each title was then read by the author and 681 articles were rejected based on title alone, where it clearly did not meet the inclusion criteria. Of the remaining 240 articles, a further 209 articles were excluded after reading the abstract, including 11 without an abstract, and six that were reports on previous studies that had been conducted, tallying to 31 articles.

Of the remaining 31 articles, three were excluded because they extended their sample to include others who were not specifically nurses. An additional four were excluded because they did not include a sleep hygiene practice based on the definition provided. A further 12 were excluded because they included other components within their intervention that were not sleep hygiene related. This resulted in 12 articles being included in the review as shown in Figure 1.

**Figure 1.** Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA 2020) flow diagram demonstrating the systematic search method for identification, screening, eligibility, and inclusion of articles in the systematic review. N=number.



#### **Study selection and characteristics**

12 studies were included in this systematic review and focused on implementing sleep hygiene interventions to reduce burnout in nurses. The study participants, sample size, method, and features of the interventions are outlined in Table 1. The studies were conducted in a range of countries, predominantly the USA (n=7), China (n=2), Portugal (n=2), and South Korea (n=1). All 12 studies were conducted within the last ten years; 2015 (n=3), 2016 (n=1), 2019 (n=4), 2020 (n=1), 2021 (n=1), and 2022 (n=2).

Of the 12 studies, seven were pilot studies, of which, one used a randomised controlled trial (RCT) (Alexander et al., 2015), whilst the other six used quasi-experimental designs (Gauthier et al., 2015; Lynes et al., 2019; Montanari et al., 2019; Patronis & Staffileno, 2021; Qualls et al., 2022; Veiga et al., 2019). Of the remaining five studies that were not pilot studies, three used quasi-experimental designs (Bazarko et al., 2013; Duarte & Pinto-Gouveia, 2016; Pan et al., 2019), one used an RCT (Shin et al., 2020), and one used an experimental design (Hsieh et al., 2022).

The studies largely involved female participants (four studies only included female participants), a range of ages (mean ages were between 26-52 years old), and majority of the studies reported on relationship status (whether the participants were married, divorced, or single). The studies covered different forms of sleep hygiene practices including yoga, mindfulness, meditation practices, progressive muscle relaxation, breathing exercises, and the inhalation of essential oils.

Half of the studies had a control group (Alexander et al., 2015; Duarte & Pinto-Gouveia., 2016; Hsieh et al., 2022; Lynes et al., 2019; Shin et al., 2020; Veiga et al., 2019). At baseline, four studies had no significant differences between the intervention and control groups regarding demographic variables (e.g. age, marital status, nursing experience, previous meditation experience, etc) (Alexander et al., 2015; Lynes et al., 2019; Shin et al., 2020; Veiga et al., 2019). However, two studies did find baseline differences between their intervention and control groups. Hsieh et al (2022), despite using random allocation, established statistically significant differences in the mean ages between the experimental group (42.30 years) and control group (32.51 years). In addition, the experimental group's seniority (18.67 years) was higher than the control group's (10.47 years). The other study (Duarte & Pinto-Gouveia., 2016), which did not use random allocation and was centered on a mindfulness intervention, established that their control group presented with significantly higher levels in the observation aspect of The Five Facets of Mindfulness Questionnaire (FFMQ), compared to their intervention group. The observation aspect refers to an individual's sensations, perceptions, thoughts, and feelings being observed, noticed, and attended to (Rudkin et al., 2018).

The MBI was used by seven studies as the measure to assess burnout and the effects of the interventions on the three dimensions (emotional exhaustion, depersonalisation, and personal accomplishment) (Alexander et al., 2015; Gauthier et al., 2015; Lynes et al., 2019; Montanari et al., 2019; Pan et al., 2019; Patronis & Staffileno, 2021; Veiga et al., 2019). Of the remaining five studies, three used the Professional Quality of Life Scale (ProQOL) that included burnout as a subscale (Duarte & Pinto-Gouveia, 2016; Qualls et al., 2022; Shin et al., 2020). One study used the Occupational Burnout Inventory (OBI) to assess personal burnout, work-related burnout, client-related burnout, and over-commitment to work (Hsieh et al., 2022). The remaining study (Bazarko et al., 2013) used the Copenhagen Burnout Inventory (CBI) to measure burnout in three domains; personal, work, and with clients.

Seven of the studies took measurements of burnout levels at two different time points. All seven studies took their first measurement at baseline, then four of them also took measurements immediately after their intervention had been completed (Alexander et al., 2015; Qualls et al., 2022; Shin et al., 2020; Veiga et al., 2019). Of the remaining three studies, Hsieh et al (2022) and Pan et al (2019) took their second measurement one week after their interventions had been completed, and Montanari et al (2019) six weeks after their intervention had been completed. Furthermore, the other five studies took measurements at three different time points, with all of them taking their first measurement at baseline. Gauthier et al (2015) also took measurements immediately after their intervention, and four weeks later. Lynes et al (2019) immediately after their intervention, and eight weeks later. Patronis & Staffileno (2021) at weeks four and eight of their intervention. Bazarko et al (2013), eight and 16 weeks after their intervention, and Duarte & Pinto-Gouveia (2016) immediately after their intervention, and 12 weeks later.

None of the interventions were discussed within the context of sleep. However, all of the studies were framed around previous literature demonstrating the beneficial effects of their interventions on the burnout levels of different populations or other psychological conditions for nurses (e.g. anxiety, depression, post-traumatic stress disorder, stress). The studies also highlighted the scarcity of evidence available on the topic in terms of interventions that have been implemented with the purpose of reducing burnout in nurses. This helped the authors to build the rationale around testing the feasibility and effectiveness of each of these interventions.

Ten of the interventions were held on-site (Alexander et al., 2015; Duarte & Pinto-Gouveia, 2016; Gauthier et al., 2015; Hsieh et al., 2022; Lynes et al., 2019; Montanari et al., 2019; Pan et al., 2019; Qualls et al., 2022; Shin et al., 2020; Veiga et al., 2019). One of the interventions utilised a combination of on-site and online delivery (Patronis & Staffileno, 2021), whilst the remaining intervention used a combination of on-site, off-site, and online delivery (Bazarko et al., 2013). Out of the 12 interventions, six of them encouraged the participants to practice in their own time outside of the scheduled sessions (Alexander et al., 2015; Bazarko et al., 2013; Duarte & Pinto-Gouveia, 2016; Gauthier et al., 2015; Pan et al., 2019; Patronis & Staffileno, 2021), whilst the remaining six interventions did not (Hsieh et al., 2022; Lynes et al., 2019; Montanari et al., 2019; Qualls et al., 2022; Shin et al., 2020; Veiga et al., 2019).

Five of the interventions were administered over a timeframe of eight weeks (Alexander et al., 2015; Bazarko et al., 2013; Lynes et al., 2019; Patronis & Staffileno, 2021; Veiga et al., 2019). Within these interventions, Bazarko et al (2013) carried out six weekly one and a half hour teleconference sessions as well as two full day in-person retreats. Lynes et al (2019)

27

carried out eight 30-minute laughter yoga sessions (one per week). Patronis & Staffileno (2021) conducted 20-minute sessions that were available either four or five days per week in which the participants were not limited to how many they attended. Veiga et al (2019) carried out two 20-minute sessions per week, whilst Alexander et al (2015) carried out eight weekly yoga sessions but provided no information about the length of each yoga session.

Furthermore, three interventions were administered over a timeframe of six weeks (Duarte & Pinto-Gouveia, 2016; Montanari et al., 2019; Pan et al., 2019). Within these interventions, Duarte & Pinto-Gouveia (2016) carried out six weekly sessions for their mindfulness training program as well as six group sessions (each session lasted two hours) to engage in experiential exercises. Pan et al (2019) carried out six weekly two hour sessions, whilst Montanari et al (2019) conducted sessions three times per week over the six week timeframe; however, they did not provide information about how long each session was. Of the remaining four interventions, Hsieh et al (2022) carried out seven sessions (each session lasted one hour) over the course of two days. Qualls et al (2022) carried out two sessions per week over the course of four weeks, each meditation session lasting just under 10 minutes. Shin et al (2020) carried out two 20-minute sessions within a 24-hour interval, whilst Gauthier et al (2015) conducted five-minute daily sessions over the course of 30 days.

Author(s),	Method	Sample size (n) and	Intervention	Control group	Measure
year, country		participant			
of study		characteristics			
Gina K.	Experimental study	N=40 nurses.	Eight weekly	Usual care	Measure: Maslach
Alexander,	– pilot level		organised sessions of		Burnout Inventory
Kari Rollins,	randomised	Groups:	supervised yoga.		(MBI)
Danielle	controlled trial.	Intervention (n=20).			
Walker,		Control (n=20).	Sessions focused on:		Measurement:
Lily Wong,	Recruitment:		consciousness of		Time 1 – baseline;
and Jacquelyn	email,	97.5% female,	breath;		Time $2 - at$ the end of
Pennings,	advertisements,	2.5% male.	aligning the posture		the intervention
2015,	flyer distributions,		correctly;		
USA	and employee	Mean age: 46 years	breathing in deeply;		
	portals.	old.	monitoring the mind		
			with simple		
		65% married,	meditations;		
		2.5% widowed,	and		
		22.5% divorced,	deep relaxation.		
		and 10% never			
		married.	Participants were		
			encouraged to		
			practice at home.		
			The intervention was		
			not discussed within		
			the context of sleep.		
Dawn Bazarko,	Non-randomised	N=36.	One full day retreat	No control	Measure: Copenhagen
Rebecca A.	pre-post		(in person) at the start	group.	Burnout Inventory
Cate,	intervention study.	100% female.	of the eight week		(CBI).
			program,		

Table 1. Characteristics and outcomes of studies of burnout interventions that include a sleep hygiene practice(s)

Francisca	Recruitment:	Mean age: 52 years	accompanied by six	Measurement:
Azocae,	email to participate	old.	weekly one and a half	Time 1 – two weeks
and Mary Jo	in initial one hour		hour group	prior to intervention;
Kreitzer,	Telephonic	Marital status was	teleconference calls,	Time 2 – two months
2013,	Mindfulness-based	not reported.	contact with the	after intervention;
USA	Stress Reduction	•	instructor between	Time 3 – four months
	(tMBSR)		sessions via email,	after intervention
	informational		and a full day retreat	
	teleconference call.		at the end of the	
	If participants were		program.	
	interested to			
	continue further,		Schedule included:	
	they completed a		a set of instructions	
	brief online		that guided	
	application.		participants into	
	Enrolment occurred		mindfulness	
	on a first come,		meditation exercises;	
	first serve basis and		discussions that were	
	had an eligibility		prompted by the	
	criteria that needed		group;	
	to be met.		yoga and stretches;	
			assignments to be	
			done at home;	
			and access to	
			individual support.	
			All home practices	
			were 25-30 mins and	
			on alternating days in	
			weeks two, three, and	
			four, participants	
			engaged in a recorded	
			meditation that	

			required them to sit down and place their attention on their breath. Combination of organised sessions and encouragement for participants to practice at home. The intervention was not discussed within the context of sleep		
Joana Duarte and Jose Pinto- Gouveia, 2016, Portugal	Non-randomised wait-list comparison design. Recruitment: advertising through a private web-based network. Participants self- selected into the experimental or waiting list comparison condition according to their convenience with rotating shifts.	N=48. Groups: Experimental group (n=29). Control group (n=19). Experimental group: 89.6% female, 10.4% male. Mean years of age: 38.9 years old. 75.9% married or cohabitating, 17.2% single, and 6.9% divorced	A six week mindfulness-based group intervention held on site. Sessions focused on: mindfulness of the breath, body, difficult emotions, thoughts; mindful communication; loving kindness meditation; and a closing reflection. Participants were encouraged to practice at home for	Were offered the opportunity to attend the mindfulness program after the intervention group.	Measure: ProQOL-5 Measurement: Time 1 – baseline; Time 2 – immediately after intervention; Time 3 – three month follow up

		Control group: 84.2% female, 15.8% male. Mean years of age: 42.11 years old. 63.2% married or cohabitating, 26.3% single, and 10.5% divorced.	at least 15 mins per day. The intervention was not discussed within the context of sleep.		
Tina Gauthier, Rita M.L. Meyer, Dagmar Grefe, and Jeffrey I. Gold, 2015, USA	Pilot study using pre and post-test measures. Recruitment: announcements during staff meetings, posted flyers, emails, and individual recruitment.	N=45. 93.3% female, 6.7% male. 75.5% were between 26-39 years old. 46.7% never been married, 40% married, 11.1% separated/divorced, and 2.2% widowed.	Five-minute daily mindfulness sessions over the course of 30 days. Sessions focused on: the breath; sounds; body; and mind. Conducted on the hospital unit, as a group. Consisted of a combination of organised sessions, and encouraged the participants to	No control group.	Measure: MBI Measurement: Time 1 – baseline; Time 2 – post- intervention; Time 3 – one month follow up

			practice at any time throughout the day once they felt confident to do so. The intervention was not discussed within the context of sleep.		
Hsiu-Fen Hsieh, Yu-Tung Huang, Shu-Ching Ma, and Yi-Wen Wang, 2022, China	Experimental study. Recruitment: convenience sampling and used an eligibility criteria that needed to be met. Participants randomly assigned to experimental or control group.	<ul> <li>N=79.</li> <li>Groups: Experimental group (n=40)</li> <li>Control group (n=39)</li> <li>Gender was not reported for either group.</li> <li>Experimental group:</li> <li>Mean age: 42.3 years old.</li> <li>47.8% single/divorced, and 52.2% married.</li> <li>Control group:</li> <li>Mean age: 32.5 years old</li> </ul>	Seven sessions of gong meditation on the two days were done at: 10am-11am, 1pm-2pm, 3pm-4pm, 5pm-6pm, and 8pm- 9pm (first day), then 10am-11am and 1pm- 2pm (second day). Sessions focused on: clearing the mind and focusing on something in particular. Participants were not encouraged to practice in their own time, it only consisted of organised sessions.	Given a smartwatch for measuring stress without any intervention. Required to go about their daily activities as usual and could take a rest at any time during the same period.	Measure: Occupational Burnout Inventory (OBI) Measurement: Time 1 – baseline; Time 2 – one week post-intervention.

				1	
			The intervention was		
		66.7%	not discussed within		
		single/divorced, and	the context of sleep.		
		33.3% married.			
Linda Lynes,	Pilot study using a	N=50 nurses.	Eight 30 min laughter	Did not	Measure: MBI
Lina Kawar, and	mixed-methods		yoga sessions over	participate in the	
Regina Valdez,	(pre/post-test	Groups:	two months.	laughter yoga	Measurement:
2019.	intervention with	Intervention group		sessions.	Time 1 – baseline;
USA	non-equivalent	(n=19).	Sessions focused on:		Time 2 – post-
	groups) design.	Control group	five mins of deep		intervention:
	0170	(n=31).	breaths and muscle		Time $3 - two month$
	Recruitment:		warm up exercises:		follow up.
	nurses were offered	88% female.	15 mins of laughter		1
	opportunity to	12% male.	exercises:		
	participate and		10 mins of meditative		
	volunteered to	Mean age: 43.72	breathing and guided		
	either be in the	vears old.	relaxation.		
	intervention or	Juin oran			
	control group	Marital status was	Participants were not		
	control Broup.	not reported.	encouraged to		
		norreponent	practice in their own		
			time it just consisted		
			of organised sessions		
			of organised sessions.		
			The intervention was		
			not discussed within		
			the context of sleep.		
Kate M	Single-arm pre/post	N=50 pre	Took place over the	No control	Measure: MBI
Montanari.	test pilot study	intervention.	course of six	group.	1.1003010. 11121
Cassandra L	design.	32 post-intervention	weekends	9 P.	Measurement:
Bowe		26 completed both	, contrinuo.		Time 1 – baseline
Sherry S	Recruitment	phases			Time $2 - six$ weeks
Chesak and	email invitation	Phases.			nost-intervention
Choban, and	eman menunon.				post merion.

Susanne M.	Of the 26,	Sessions took place at	
Cutshall,	92.31% female,	the hospital facility	
2019,	7.69% male.	and included:	
USA		a CD with a guided	
	Marital status was	mindfulness audio;	
	not reported.	a machine that	
		produced sounds that	
		were soothing and	
		included instructions	
		on how to engage in a	
		brief mindful	
		breathing technique;	
		a mindfulness prompt	
		that was given out	
		each week;	
		a collective journal	
		(remained	
		anonymous) to write	
		mindful	
		thoughts in relation to	
		the prompts;	
		and/or a display of a	
		written expression of	
		gratitude showing	
		appreciation for the	
		hard work	
		participants do from	
		unit leadership.	
		Participants were not	
		encouraged to	
		practice in their own	
		time.	

			The intervention was		
			not discussed within the context of sleep		
Chen Pan, Honghong Wang, Minzhen Chen, Yu Cai, Changgen Xiao, Qiuping Tang, and Deborah Koniak-Griffin, 2019, China	Mixed-method study using both quantitative and qualitative methods. Quantitative data used pre and post- test measures. Recruitment: flyers - and was based on an eligibility criteria that needed to be met.	<ul> <li>N=20 nurses.</li> <li>94.7% female,</li> <li>5.3% male.</li> <li>Mean age: 27.68 years old.</li> <li>47.4% single,</li> <li>47.4% married, and 5.2% divorced.</li> </ul>	Six weekly two hour small group sessions. Sessions included: mindful breathing; mindful body scan; sitting meditation; mindful listening; mindful movement (tai chi and yoga); and daily life meditation. Combined organised sessions as well as encouraged the participants to practice at home. The intervention was not discussed within	No control group.	Measure: MBI Measurement: Time 1 – one week pre- intervention; Time 2 – one week post-intervention.
Starlar.	A	N. 20	the context of sleep.	NT	
Stephanie Patronis and	A pilot study using pre and post-test	N=20 nurses.	20 min mindfulness sessions over the	No control group.	Measure: MBI
Beth Staffileno, 2021,	measures.	100% female.	course of eight weeks.	6 T	Measurement: Time 1 – baseline;
USA	Recruitment: email, flyers,	Mean age: 36.8 years old.	Sessions focused on: yoga; self-reflection;		Time 2 – at week four; Time 3 – at week eight.

	and formal	Marital status was	and meditation		
	announcements at	not reported			
	department	not reported.	Combination of		
	meetings		organised sessions as		
	Nurses were		well as		
	instructed to		encouragement for		
	contact the		participants to		
	principal		practice at home		
	investigator if		practice at nonite.		
	interested in		The intervention was		
	participating		not discussed within		
	participaning.		the context of sleep.		
Brandon W.	A prospective	N=13.	Eight meditation	No control	Measure: ProOOL-V
Oualls.	pre/posttest pilot		sessions over the	group.	
Emily M.	study.	100% female.	course of four weeks	8r	Measurement:
Pavton.			– each session was 9		Time 1 – baseline;
Laura G.	Recruitment:	Mean years of age	minutes and 31		Time 2 – post-
Aikens, and	flyers - the authors	was not reported.	seconds.		intervention
Mary G. Carey.	also attended staff	1			
2022,	meetings and unit	69% married.	Participants were		
USA	huddles to present		given headphones and		
	the study.	Marital status was	an MP3 player with		
	5	not reported.	their assigned		
		1	meditation preloaded		
			onto it (given one of		
			two options).		
			Participants were not		
			encouraged to		
			practice in their own		
			time, it only consisted		
			of organised sessions.		

			The intervention was		
			not discussed within		
			the context of sleep		
You Kyoung	Randomised	N=50	Two inhalations of	Control group	Measure: ProOOL
Shin	controlled trial	10.00	patchouli oil within a	allocated to	Meusure. Progot
So Voung Lee	$(\mathbf{P}\mathbf{C}\mathbf{T})$	Groups	24 hour interval	inhale pure	Maggurament
Joana Min Loo	(KC1).	Intervention group	(10mm angle day)	milaic purc	Time 1 hegeline
Dummer Vana	Dontininanta	(n-25)	(Topin each day) –	sweet annonu	Time 2 most
Purum Kang,		(11-23).		on tonowing the	1  line  2 - post-
and Geun Hee	randomly allocated	Control group	20 mins.	same time	intervention.
Seol,	to intervention or	(n=25).		schedule as the	
2020,	control group using		To avoid any placebo	intervention	
South Korea	a random number	Intervention group:	effect, the participants	group.	
	table.		were not aware of the		
		100% female.	type of essential oil		
Recruitment:			they inhaled or of the		
used an eligibility		Mean age: 26.44	study group they were		
criteria that needed		years old.	allocated to.		
to be met.		-			
		12% married,	Participants were not		
		88% not married.	encouraged to		
			practice in their own		
		Control group	time it only consisted		
		control group.	of two organised		
		100% female	sessions		
		10070 Territare.	505510115.		
		Maan aga: 26 56	The intervention was		
		Mean age. 20.30	The intervention was		
		years old.	the contest of allow		
		100/ 11	the context of sleep.		
		12% married,			
		88% not married.			
Guida Veiga,	Non-randomised	N=30 nurses.	Two 20 min sessions	Control group	Measure: MBI
Andreia Dias	pilot study using		per week for eight	were told to	
Rodrigues,		Groups:	weeks.	maintain their	Measurement:

Elsa Lamy,	pre and post-test	Intervention group		usual daily lives	Time 1 – baseline;
Marc Guiose,	measures.	(n=15).	Sessions focused on:	and work	Time 2 – post-
Catarina Pereira,		Control group	focusing attention on	activities.	intervention.
and Jose	Recruitment:	(n=15).	their bodies and		
Marmeleira,	advertisements and		sensations;		
2019,	used an eligibility	86.7% female,	relaxing different		
Portugal	criteria that needed	13.3% male.	muscle groups;		
_	to be met.		and focusing		
		Mean age: 42.87	awareness to and		
	Nurses volunteered years old.		controlling the breath.		
	to participate in the		_		
	study.	Marital status was	Participants were not		
		not reported.	encouraged to		
			practice in their own		
			time, it just consisted		
			of organised sessions.		
			The intervention was		
			not discussed within		
			the context of sleep.		

In terms of the burnout scores of the interventions (as can be seen in Table 2), out of the six pilot quasi-experimental studies, two did not have significant results (Lynes et al., 2019; Montanari et al., 2019) and four did (Gauthier et al., 2015; Patronis & Staffileno, 2021; Qualls et al., 2022; Veiga et al., 2019). Out of the three quasi-experimental studies, one did not have significant results (Pan et al., 2019) and two did (Bazarko et al., 2013; Duarte & Pinto-Gouveia, 2016). Of the remaining three studies, one did not have significant results (Shin et al., 2010) and two did (Alexander et al., 2015; Hsieh et al., 2022).

In terms of the types of interventions and their effects on burnout scores (as can be seen in Table 2), of the two interventions that focused primarily on mindfulness, Gauthier et al (2015) achieved statistical significance on the personal accomplishment dimension immediately after their intervention was completed, whereas Montanari et al's (2019) mindfulness intervention did not result in any statistically significant differences. Out of the two interventions that focused explicitly on yoga, Alexander et al's (2015) intervention group achieved statistically significant improvements on the emotional exhaustion and depersonalisation dimensions, whilst Lynes et al (2019) found no statistical differences between their groups. The only study that focused specifically on the inhalation of essential oils found no statistical differences between their groups (Shin et al., 2020). Whilst the study that focused explicitly on gong meditation achieved statistically significant improvements on all of the dimensions that the OBI was measuring (personal burnout, work-related burnout, client-related burnout, and over commitment to work) (Hsieh et al., 2022).

Out of the remaining six interventions that used a combination of sleep hygiene practices, four achieved statistical significance. Duarte & Pinto-Gouveia (2016) (mindfulness and meditation) and Qualls et al (2022) (mindfulness and meditation) both had statistically significant improvements between their pre and post-test measures of burnout. Veiga et al (2019) (mindfulness and progressive muscle relaxation) achieved statistically significant improvements on the emotional exhaustion dimension post-intervention. However, Bazarko et al (2013) (mindfulness, yoga, and meditation) established statistically significant improvements on all of the dimensions of the CBI two months after their intervention, but at four months after their intervention, these differences were not present, except for a statistically significant difference for the work dimension.

Patronis & Staffileno (2021) (mindfulness, yoga, and meditation) did establish improvements on all three dimensions of burnout (emotional exhaustion, depersonalisation, and personal accomplishment) following their intervention. However, these differences did not achieve statistical significance. The remaining study also did not achieve statistical significance (Pan et al., 2019) (mindfulness, yoga, and meditation). Thus, of the 12 studies, eight of them established differences between burnout scores before and after implementing their interventions, with six of these studies achieving statistical significance on at least one dimension of burnout. Hsieh et al (2022) achieved the most successful outcome with their gong meditation intervention because they established statistical significance on all four of the dimensions that the OBI was measuring. 
 Table 2. Main findings of the included studies.

Author	Intervention	MBI-EE	MBI-DP	MBI-PA	
Gina K.	Yoga	Within:	Within:	Within:	
Alexander,		baseline m=17.6,	baseline m=4.05,	baseline m=37.15,	
Kari Rollins,		post m=12.95,	post m=2.50,	post m=39.60 –	
Danielle Walker,		p=0.008 – significant.	p=0.007 – significant.	reported as significant,	
Lily Wong,				but no p-value	
and Jacquelyn		Between:	Between:	provided.	
Pennings,		intervention m=12.95;	intervention m=2.50;		
2015,		control m=20.60,	control m=5.15,	Between:	
USA		p=0.028 – significant.	p=0.048 – significant.	intervention m=39.60;	
				control m= $37.05 -$	
				reported as non-	
				significant, but no p-	
T' C (1)	NC 10 1	XX7'/1 '	<b>XX7',1 '</b>	value provided.	
Tina Gauthier,	Mindfulness	Within:	Within: $h_{2} = 12.22$ m	Within: $h_{aaa} = 42.20$	
Rita M.L. Meyer,		baseline $m=31.49 - n0$	baseline $m=13.33 - n0$	baseline $m=42.29 - n0$	
Dagmar Grele,		other m values were	other m values were	other m values were	
Gold		reported.	reported.	Teponea.	
2015		No test statistic	No test statistic	Test statistic (F)=5.43	
USA		provided	provided		
0.011		provided.	provided.	Increased at time 2 and	
		Reported as non-	Reported as non-	decreased at time 3.	
		significant, but no p-	significant, but no p-	p=0.03 – significant.	
		value provided.	value provided.	1	
Linda Lynes,	Yoga	No values reported –	No values reported –	No values reported –	
Lina Kawar,	C	statistical significance	statistical significance	statistical significance	
and Regina		unclear.	unclear.	unclear.	
Valdez,					
2019,					

USA					
Kate M. Montanari, Cassandra L. Bowe, Sherry S. Chesak, and Susanne M. Cutshall, 2019, USA	Mindfulness	Within: baseline m=23.28, post m=20.03, p=0.11 – not significant.	Within: baseline m=8.02, post m=7.28, p=0.59 – not significant.	Within: baseline m=37.10, post m=37.19, p=0.95 – not significant.	
Chen Pan, Honghong Wang, Minzhen Chen, Yu Cai, Changgen Xiao, Qiuping Tang, and Deborah Koniak-Griffin, 2019, China	Mindfulness, yoga, and meditation	Within: baseline m=24.79, post m=23.84, p=0.73 – not significant.	Within: baseline m=7.31, post m=6.63, p=0.45 – not significant.	Within: baseline m=19.53, post m=20.58, p=0.52 – not significant.	
Stephanie Patronis and Beth Staffileno, 2021, USA	Mindfulness, yoga, and meditation	Within: baseline m=17.8, week 4 m=12.6, post m=12.3, p=0.079 – decrease in scores but not significant.	Within: baseline m=10.4, week 4 m=6.8, post m= 7.1, p=0.057 – decrease in scores but not significant.	Within: baseline m=34.3, week 4 m=35.2, post m=37.6, p=0.331 – increase in scores but not significant.	
Guida Veiga, Andreia Dias Rodrigues, Elsa Lamy, Marc Guiose, Catarina Pereira,	Mindfulness and progressive muscle relaxation	Within: baseline m=3.4, post m=2.78, p=0.03 – significant. Between:	Within: baseline m=1.84, post m=1.76, p=0.09 – not significant. Between:	Within: baseline m=4.65, post m=4.28, p=0.80 – not significant.	

and Jose Marmeleira, 2019, Portugal		intervention m=2.78; control m=3.83 – reported as significant but no p-value provided.	intervention m=1.76; control m=3.19 – reported as non- significant but no p- value provided.	Between: intervention m= 4.28; control m=3.70 – reported as non- significant but no p- value provided.	
		CBI personal	CBI work	CBI client	
Dawn Bazarko, Rebecca A. Cate, Francisca Azocae, and Mary Jo Kreitzer, 2013, USA	Mindfulness and meditation	Statistical significance from time 1 to time 2 only: Within: baseline m=44.56; two months post m=26.27, p=<0.001 Significant differences in time 3 outcomes: m=20.99 for those maintained MBSR between time 2 and time 3, compared to m=36.57 for those who did not	Statistical significance for all time points Within: baseline m=49.50; two months post m=37.55, p=<0.001; four months post m=32.24, p=<0.05 Significant differences in time 3 outcomes: m=29.10 for those maintained MBSR between time 2 and time	Statistical significance from time 1 to time 2 only: Within: baseline m=19.49; two months post m=14.22, p=<0.05 Significant differences in time 3 outcomes: m=11.83 for those maintained MBSR between time 2 and time 3, compared to m=18.06 for those	
			3, compared to m=41.67	who did not	
		OBI personal	OBI work-related	OBI client-related	OBI over commitment to work
Hsiu-Fen Hsieh, Yu-Tung Huang, Shu-Ching Ma,	Gong meditation	Within:	Within:	Within:	Within: p=<0.001- reported as significant but

and Yi-Wen Wang, 2022, China		<ul> <li>p=&lt;0.001 – reported as significant but no m values were provided.</li> <li>No test statistic reported.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>p=&lt;0.001 – reported as significant but no m values were provided.</li> <li>No test statistic reported.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>p=&lt;0.001 – reported as significant but no m values were provided.</li> <li>No test statistic reported.</li> </ul>	no m values were provided. No test statistic reported.
		Between: p=0.004 – reported as significant but no m values were provided.			
Joana Duarte and Jose Pinto- Gouveia, 2016, Portugal	Mindfulness and meditation	ProQOL/ProQOL-3Within:baseline m=26.57.post m=24.29,p=0.002 – significant.Between:intervention m=24.29,control m=23.39,p=0.007 – significant.Significant interactionsbetween time (pre andpost) and practice (lowand high) – p=0.038.			
Brandon W. Qualls, Emily M. Payton, Laura G. Aikens, and Mary G. Carey, 2022,	Mindfulness and meditation	Within: baseline m=23.00, post m=19.73, p=0.004 – significant.			

USA				
You Kyoung	Inhalation of	Within:		
Shin,	essential oils	baseline m=31.52,		
So-Young Lee,		post m=30.84,		
Jeong-Min Lee,		p=0.123 – not		
Purum Kang, and		significant.		
Geun Hee Seol,				
2020,		Between:		
South Korea		intervention m=30.84;		
		control m=30.28,		
		p=0.123 – not		
		significant.		

m=mean value

## Research design and risk of bias in studies

A few of the studies were made up of relatively small sample sizes, particularly Qualls et al's (2022) sample of only 13 individuals. However, as can be seen in Table 1, the number of participants ranged from 13 to 79, with three studies having at least 50 participants or more (Hsieh et al., 2022; Lynes et al., 2019; Shin et al., 2020). Only one of the 12 studies (Qualls et al., 2022) considered their own bias between the researcher and participants by acknowledging that neither of the authors had a prior relationship with either of the oncology units, which minimises the potential for bias. Furthermore, six studies did not clearly justify their research design (Alexander et al., 2015; Duarte & Pinto-Gouveia, 2016; Hsieh et al., 2022; Pan et al., 2019; Qualls et al., 2022; Shin et al., 2020). Instead, they just stated the research design they were using without providing an explanation as to why they chose that research design and how it related to the objective of their study.

Half of the studies did not provide an in-depth description of their data analysis process (Alexander et al., 2015; Bazarko et al., 2013; Hsieh et al., 2022; Lynes et al., 2019; Pan et al., 2019; Patronis & Staffileno, 2021), which makes it unclear whether the authors analysed their data thoroughly. However, the other half of the studies provided in-depth descriptions of their data analyses (Duarte & Pinto-Gouveia, 2016; Gauthier et al., 2015; Montanari et al., 2019; Qualls et al., 2022; Shin et al., 2020; Veiga et al., 2019).

In terms of the potential for bias within the studies, to a certain extent, all studies have the potential for bias given that they all relied on self-report measures (CBI, MBI, OBI, ProQOL) (Adams et al., 1999).

Three studies used randomisation when assigning their participants to the experimental or control conditions (Alexander et al., 2015; Hsieh et al., 2022; Shin et al., 2020). Of these three studies, two of them had no baseline differences between their intervention and control groups and used an RCT as their research design (Alexander et al., 2015; Shin et al., 2020). This

establishes credibility and trustworthiness amongst these two studies because this type of research design is the best way to determine the efficacy of an intervention due to randomisation reducing bias and confounding variables (Caparrotta et al., 2019). This helps to provide the researchers with reassurance that the differences in outcomes amongst the participants are primarily caused by the intervention (Renjith, 2017).

## Assessment of risk of bias

Figures 2 and 3 present the risk of bias summaries for randomised and non-randomised studies respectively. For the randomised studies, regarding bias arising from the randomisation process (D1), the insufficient information provided by Alexander et al (2015) about the random assignment of their participants to the intervention and control groups raised some questions about how they carried out their randomisation process. Hsich et al (2022) generated some concerns around their randomisation process given that significant baseline differences had been identified between their intervention and control groups. Shin et al's (2020) study was the only one to produce a low level of risk within this domain as they randomly assigned their participants using a random number table and generated the random allocation sequence and recruitment of participants using independent investigators to ensure this process was kept concealed. They also did not find significant differences between their intervention and control groups at baseline.

Two of the studies raised some concerns around bias in the measurement of outcome (D4) (Alexander et al., 2015; Hsieh et al., 2022). This is because given that the outcome assessors were the participants themselves, and that burnout was measured using self-report measures (Renjith, 2017), the evaluation of their post-intervention burnout levels could have been influenced by their knowledge of the intervention they received (Sterne et al., 2019). Thus, within these two studies, because they both resulted in improvements in burnout scores, the participants may have believed that their symptoms of burnout had reduced after the intervention based on their expectations about the interventions' effects on burnout.

48

The remaining study (Shin et al., 2020) produced a low risk of bias overall given that each domain that it was assessed on did not raise concerns. For example, as can be seen within the domain of bias due to deviations from the intended intervention (D2), this study produced a lower risk of bias compared to the other two studies because they used the method of single blinding, so the participants were not aware of the type of essential oil they inhaled, nor were they aware of the group they were allocated to. This helps to minimise expectation bias amongst the participants because given that they were unaware of whether they were receiving the experimental or placebo intervention, the outcomes were not influenced by their expectations of the intervention's efficiency (Renjith, 2017). This is particularly relevant given that burnout is a subjective experience, thus, it is more prone to expectation bias (Renjith, 2017).

For the non-randomised studies, all of them had a moderate level of bias for the risk of confounding variables. This is because these studies did not use randomisation to allocate their participants, and six of the studies did not have a control group to compare the outcomes of their intervention to (Bazarko et al., 2013; Gauthier et al., 2015; Montanari et al., 2019; Pan et al., 2019; Patronis & Staffileno, 2021; Qualls et al., 2022). This makes it difficult to establish whether the differences in outcome measures are due to the intervention or other confounding variables, such as age, nursing experience, number of children, or hours worked per week (Marsden & Torgerson, 2012).

Five of the studies were identified as having important problems within the bias of the selection of participants (D2) (Duarte & Pinto-Gouveia, 2016; Lynes et al., 2019; Pan et al., 2019; Qualls et al., 2022; Veiga et al., 2019). Four of these studies had the potential for bias within the type of sampling they used as two studies had participants volunteer to be involved in the study (Pan et al., 2019; Veiga et al., 2019). Thus, volunteer bias, a type of self-selection bias, occurs when participants who volunteer to participate in a study are not fully representative of the population sampled from (Nuzzo, 2021). For example, this type of bias often occurs when individuals chose or are willing to engage in an experiment, thus, this type of

49

sampling technique fails to capture the remainder of the target population who are less willing to participate, yet are still of interest (Nuzzo, 2021).

Moreover, Duarte & Pinto-Gouveia (2016) and Lynes et al (2019) allowed their participants to self-select into the experimental or control groups once they had agreed to participate. Duarte & Pinto-Gouveia (2016) allowed their participants to do this due to convenience and whether the requirements of the program fit within the participants' work schedules. However, Lynes et al (2019) provided no explanation as to why they allowed selfselection to be carried out. This can generate bias because the principles of probability sampling, randomly assigning participants to the two groups, has not been applied (Bethlehem, 2010), so some participants may have particular motives behind their self-selection into one of the two groups (Lynes et al., 2019).

The remaining study (Qualls et al., 2022) had the potential for bias when recruiting their participants into the study because the authors attended the meetings involving staff and unit huddles to discuss the study. Thus, the authors could have presented the study in a particular way to obtain more participants or presented the study differently in accordance with which types of participants they wanted to see in their study.

Montanari et al (2019) was the only study to be identified as having key issues with bias due to missing data (D5). This is because the study initially started out with 50 participants preintervention but ended up with only 32 participants post-intervention. However, only 26 of the participants completed both pre and post measures. Thus, the outcome data available did not capture at least 90% of participants, making it insufficient (Sterne et al., 2016).

All of the studies established a serious overall risk of bias because each of them were identified as having a key issue in at least one or more of the domains. All of them were assessed as having a serious risk of bias in the measurement of outcomes domain (D6) given that the participants were the assessors of their own burnout levels. In addition to this, Qualls et al (2022) acknowledged that one of the authors was a coinvestigator of the study, so this could have increased the chance of bias if the author had additional motives to demonstrate the benefits of the mindfulness intervention on the outcome measures.

All of the studies were assessed as having a moderate level of bias amongst the remaining domains; bias due to confounding (D1), bias in classification of interventions (D3), bias due to deviations from intended interventions (D4), and bias in the selection of the reported findings (D7). This is because according to the ROBINS-I tool, a moderate level of bias refers to a study being sound for a non-randomised study regarding those domains but cannot be thought of as equivalent to a well-designed randomised study (Sterne et al., 2019).

				Risk of bia	s domains				
		D1	D2	D3	D4	D5	Overall		
	Alexander et al., 2015; USA	?	-	+	-	+	-		
Study	Hsieh et al., 2022; China	-	-	+	-	+	-		
	Shin et al., 2020; South Korea	+	+	+	+	+	+		
		Domains:				Judg	Judgement		
		D1: Bias arising from the randomization process. D2: Bias due to deviations from intended intervention.					Some concerns		
		D3: Bias due to missing outcome data.				+	Low		
		D4: Bias in measurement of the outcome. D5: Bias in selection of the reported result.					No information		

Figure 2. Risk of bias summary for randomised studies using the RoB2 tool.

Figure 3. Risk of bias summary for non-randomised studies using the ROBINS-I tool.

		Risk of bias domains							
		D1	D2	D3	D4	D5	D6	D7	Overall
	Bazarko et al., 2013; USA	-	-	-	-	-	X	-	X
	Duarte & Pinto-Gouveia, 2016; Portugal	-	X	-	-	-	X	-	X
	Gauthier et al., 2015; USA	-	-	-	-	-	X	-	X
	Lynes et al., 2019; USA	-	X	-	-	-	X	-	X
Study	Montanari et al., 2019; USA		-	-	-	X	X	-	X
	Pan et al., 2019; China	-	X	-	-	-	X	-	X
	Patronis & Staffileno, 2021; USA	-	-	-	-	-	X	-	X
	Qualls et al., 2022; USA	-	X	-	-	-	X	-	X
	Veiga et al., 2019; Portugal	-	X	-	-	-	X	-	X
		Domain	s:					Judą	gement

Domains: D1: Bias due to confounding. D2: Bias due to selection of participants. D3: Bias in classification of interventions. D4: Bias due to deviations from intended interventions. D5: Bias due to minimize date.

D5: Bias due to missing data.

D6: Bias in measurement of outcomes.

D7: Bias in selection of the reported result.

Serious - Moderate

## DISCUSSION

This systematic review provides a synthesised analysis of burnout interventions for nurses that include sleep hygiene practices. 12 studies were reviewed with half of them focusing primarily on a single sleep hygiene practice (Alexander et al., 2015; Gauthier et al., 2015; Hsieh et al., 2022; Lynes et al., 2019; Montanari et al., 2019; Shin et al., 2020), whereas the other half of the studies incorporated multiple sleep hygiene practices within their interventions (Bazarko et al., 2013; Duarte & Pinto-Gouveia, 2016; Pan et al., 2019; Patronis & Staffileno, 2021; Qualls et al., 2022; Veiga et al., 2019).

#### Administration of the sleep hygiene practices

There were two studies that focused on mindfulness as the single sleep hygiene practice, these were conducted by Gauthier et al (2015) and Montanari et al (2019). Both studies used a pilot design to test the feasibility of a larger scaled mindfulness intervention in the future and both studies based their interventions off Mindfulness-Based Stress Reduction (MBSR) (Bishop, 2002). Systematic training in mindfulness is provided by MBSR, a clinical program that teaches people to manage stress and emotional distress through self-help strategies (Bishop, 2002). The primary goal of MBSR is to help people develop a greater awareness of their thoughts and feelings, to be able to regulate their emotions, instead of engaging in other patterns of negative thinking that have the potential to cause a cycle of stress reactivity and heighten emotional distress (Bishop, 2002). Gauthier et al (2015) and Montanari et al (2019) both designed their interventions to be adaptive to the work constraints that participants had, ensuring they all had equal opportunities to participate. Both interventions were held at the nurses' workplace.

These two MBSR interventions also differed in several ways, including the frequency of practice and the amount of choice around selecting options. Gauthier et al (2015) had all participants work through the same six phases of the single mindfulness course that was being taught to them, whereas Montanari et al (2019) provided the participants with several different mindfulness options. Gauthier et al's (2015) intervention involved more consistency with how the mindfulness was practiced, implementing two practices per day, every day for 30 days, compared to Montanari et al (2019) who only required the participants to practice on the weekend shifts for six weeks.

Despite other studies supporting the beneficial use of mindfulness for burnout in healthcare workers (Askey-Jones, 2018; Fortney et al., 2013; Lebares et al., 2018; Martín-Asuero & García-Banda, 2010; Steinberg et al., 2017), Montanari et al's (2019) mindfulness intervention did not result in any beneficial changes in participant burnout scores and Gauthier et al (2015) only established an increase in personal accomplishment immediately after their intervention, but this improvement was not present one month later. The differences in outcomes between the current mindfulness-based interventions in this review and previous research (Askey-Jones, 2018; Fortney et al., 2013; Lebares et al., 2018; Martín-Asuero & García-Banda, 2010; Steinberg et al., 2017), could be due to key variances in how the interventions were designed. For example, in contrast to the current studies focusing primarily on mindfulness, Askey-Jones (2018) incorporated cognitive therapy into their intervention and Steinberg et al (2017) integrated elements of yoga, meditation, and music into theirs.

Aside from the limitations that come with pilot studies (Leon et al., 2011), these different outcomes across the mindfulness interventions could be an indication of how complex burnout is. Thus, it is possible that interventions are more likely to be effective if they include multiple types of sleep hygiene practices. This is tentatively supported by the fact that five out of the six interventions in this review that included a combination of sleep hygiene practices (Bazarko et al., 2013; Duarte & Pinto-Gouveia, 2016; Patronis & Staffileno, 2021; Qualls et al., 2022; Veiga et al., 2019) showed improvements on one or more of the burnout dimensions for at least one time point. This aligns with previous findings that show that the use of a single sleep hygiene practice, in this case, meditation alone, was ineffective at producing statistical reductions in burnout amongst a sample of primary care workers (Hanisch, 2022).

54

All of the studies that integrated a combination of sleep hygiene practices within their interventions included mindfulness as a component (Bazarko et al., 2013; Duarte & Pinto-Gouveia, 2016; Pan et al., 2019; Patronis & Staffileno, 2021; Qualls et al., 2022; Veiga et al., 2019). Out of these six interventions, three of them built upon the framework of the MBSR model but modified their interventions to better reflect the time constraints of the nurses' work schedules, either by shortening the length of their programs or providing telephonic delivery methods for easier accessibility (Bazarko et al., 2013; Duarte & Pinto-Gouveia, 2016; Pan et al., 2019; Qualls et al., 2022). Given the difficult working environments that nurses face, as outlined in the introduction, it is likely that modifications that fit around rosters and daily activities will be important for the success of interventions like these.

Two studies used yoga as the only sleep hygiene practice in their interventions (Alexander et al., 2015; Lynes et al., 2019). Both studies used a time frame of eight weeks to facilitate their intervention within. However, Alexander et al's (2015) intervention revolved around yoga techniques that taught participants the basics of being able to align their posture correctly, to breathe in deeply, and to monitor their mind using simple meditations. This encouraged the participants to engage in a wide range of movements that focused on working their skeletal muscles, internal organs, nervous system, circulation, and emotions (Alexander et al., 2015). In comparison, Lynes et al's (2019) had a stronger focus on laughter exercises in combination with the yoga techniques discussed above. Both interventions were held in the workplace. Alexander et al's (2015) intervention encouraged the participants to practice at home by providing them with handouts, whereas Lynes et al's (2019) did not encourage any practice outside of the formal sessions. In terms of the outcomes of these interventions, Alexander et al (2015) found significant improvements between pre- and post-yoga intervention for two burnout subscale scores (emotional exhaustion and depersonalisation). Lynes et al (2019) found no significant differences between the intervention and control groups on any of the three burnout subscales.

Alexander et al's (2015) study outcomes indicate that it is possible that a single intervention can result in improvements in burnout scores. However, the difference between these two yoga studies may indicate that there is a dose response present in these burnout effects as well. Lynes et al's (2019) participants got eight laughing yoga sessions and were not encouraged to practice outside of those sessions. Alexander et al's (2015) participants got eight weekly yoga sessions and were encouraged to practice in their own time as well. Three other studies included in this review (Bazarko et al., 2013; Duarte & Pinto-Gouveia., 2016; Patronis & Staffileno, 2021) also encouraged practice outside of the official intervention sessions and found beneficial effects on burnout scores. Duarte & Pinto-Gouveia (2016) actually looked at a dose-response effect and found that the change in burnout scores from before and after their mindfulness intervention were significant only for those participants who practiced mindfulness more. Thus, focusing on helping the participants to practice the skills taught in the interventions could be beneficial.

One study focused explicitly on meditation, more specifically, the implementation of gong meditation (Hsieh et al., 2022). This type of intervention has produced mixed findings for anxiety in a previous study (Saeed et al., 2019). However, there is no evidence available looking at the effects of gong meditation on burnout. In this intervention, participants were covered with blankets and were required to lie on sleeping pads. A qualified gong therapist guided the participants into meditation by striking a gong using real-time adjusted rhythm, depending upon the participants' and gong therapist's sense of emotional resonance. The mechanism through which this works was explained by the authors as one that relaxes an individual's brain into an alpha or theta dominant brainwave state, allowing them to feel calm and happy (Quach & Lee, 2017). The sound of the gong causes a vibration to travel up the body and has also been known to stimulate dermatomes (Bajwa & Al Khalili, 2021). The gong therapy occurred seven times, over two consecutive days, with each session lasting 50-60 minutes. This intervention was held on-site and did not encourage participants to practice outside of the scheduled sessions.

Hsieh et al (2022) established significant reductions from pre to post-test scores for their intervention group in personal burnout, work-related burnout, client-related burnout, and over-commitment to work. There have been no other studies to date exploring whether gong meditation is an effective intervention for burnout, which makes it difficult to discuss how efficacious the intervention is. One confounding factor with this study is that although they used a randomised controlled trial design, participants and gong therapists could not be blinded to their intervention versus control allocation. Thus, it is possible that a placebo effect occurred, which was still present at the post intervention measure at one week post gong meditation sessions. In addition, gong meditation is predominantly relevant to the Chinese culture, as it was found to be an important component of traditional Chinese medicine, having had a long history of being practiced by Chinese people to both improve and maintain health (Bottomley, 2004). Thus, this specific type of meditation may not be generalisable to other cultures.

Shin et al's (2020) study investigated the effect of inhaling essential oils on burnout. This was administered within a 24-hour interval as participants in the intervention group were required to inhale patchouli oil at 10pm the first night and then again at 10pm the following night. Patchouli oil is a type of essential oil that has been found to reduce stress and sympathetic nerve activity (Haze et al., 2002; Pujiarti et al., 2012). During the inhalation period, participants were instructed to take three deep breaths and were allowed to inhale the patchouli oil for 20 minutes through natural breathing. All inhalations were performed in a conference room that was separate to the hospital and took place after the nurse's shifts had ended. This intervention was held on-site and did not require the participants to practice outside of the scheduled sessions.

Shin et al (2020) found no significant differences in burnout scores post-intervention, despite patchouli oil having been found to be useful for people experiencing anxiety or stress (Ali et al., 2015). However, a previous study (Pemberton & Turpin, 2008) used different types of essential oils, lavender and clary sage, and utilised a different application process in which the essential oils were applied to the participants' inner forearms, and they were instructed to leave it on during three of their 12-hour shifts. Thus, the use of essential oils may still be an effective intervention to improve nurses' burnout. However, the type of essential oil used as well as the way in which it is applied, (topical application rather than inhalation), may be important.

None of the interventions collected data on sleep, so this could infer that although these interventions are considered to fall under a sleep hygiene umbrella, sleep was not considered as a target for interventions to help combat burnout.

#### Measurements used

As discussed above, seven studies used the MBI to measure the outcomes on burnout (Alexander et al., 2015; Gauthier et al., 2015; Lynes et al., 2019; Montanari et al., 2019; Pan et al., 2019; Patronis & Staffileno, 2021; Veiga et al., 2019), three used the ProQOL (Duarte & Pinto-Gouveia, 2016; Qualls et al., 2022; Shin et al., 2020), one used the OBI, and one used the CBI. The CBI is a relatively new measurement tool for burnout and consists of three domains; (1) personal burnout, (2) work-related burnout, and (3) client-related burnout (Kristensen et al., 2005). In comparing the validation of the different measures, research has found that the MBI had the strongest construct validity data for healthcare providers compared to the CBI and OBI, a measurement tool that also includes three domains; (1) physical, (2) cognitive, and (3) affective exhaustion and disengagement from work (Dyrbye et al., 2018). Thus, these findings indicate that the MBI is the most widely used tool to measure burnout in healthcare. As to date, there has been no literature comparing the psychometric properties of the ProQOL to these other burnout measurement tools.

In addition, the studies applied their measures at different time points to obtain their overall results which could impact upon the reliability of their findings. For example, Lynes et al (2019) took measurements at baseline, immediately after their intervention, and eight weeks

later compared to Alexander et al (2015) who only took measurements at baseline and immediately after their intervention had been completed. Thus, those studies that utilised more than two time points for follow up measures could have established greater test-retest reliability for their results as it provides a more accurate indication of the stability of their findings over time (Tendal et al., 2011).

#### Limitations

A limitation of this systematic review is the inability to make inter-comparisons between the studies due to the heterogeneity of burnout measurement tools. Thus, this makes it difficult to determine which interventions are more effective than others given that the tools are inconsistent with the areas of burnout that they are measuring.

An additional limitation of this review is that most of the studies included in this review are pilot studies (Alexander et al., 2015; Gauthier et al., 2015; Lynes et al., 2019; Montanari et al., 2019; Patronis & Staffileno, 2021; Qualls et al., 2022; Veiga et al., 2019), which means they are under powered for a 0.05 significance level. This is because due to the relatively small sample sizes that come with pilot studies, they do not capture sufficient information regarding the effect size of the population (Leon et al., 2011). Pilot studies are also not used for hypothesis testing, so there is no evaluation on whether an intervention is safe, efficacious, and/or effective (Leon et al., 2011). Thus, the evaluation of these types of burnout interventions cannot be based on pilot data alone, limiting our ability to make any conclusions.

Another limitation of this review is that certain studies did not provide in-depth explanations about how their interventions were administered. This is of particular importance given that one of the objectives of this systematic review is to provide information around how the interventions were administered and compare them. In terms of the limitations associated with the methodology of this systematic review, this review only involved one reviewer during the article screening process. However, systematic reviews typically need to involve two reviewers to ensure that the article selection process is rigorous, and that there is consistency and transparency between reviewers during the decision-making process (Belur et al., 2021). Due to this review only having myself as the reviewer, there is greater potential for bias in relation to what studies were included.

## **Summary and Recommendations**

The following points summarise the rationale for this systematic review:

- Poor sleep is both an antecedent and consequence of burnout (Ekstedt, 2005; Pagnin et al., 2014),
- Nurses are prime candidates for experiencing poor sleep and burnout due to the nature of their work including irregular work schedules, dissatisfaction with working conditions, excessive work overload, and working intensively with others in a caregiving role (Ilhan et al., 2018; Maslach et al., 2001; Shao et al., 2010),
- Burnout has become more relevant given the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic, escalating the severity of burnout amongst nurses (Galanis et al., 2021),
- This is an area that contains limited literature on studies that have assessed the outcomes of burnout interventions for nurses that include sleep hygiene practices,
- Although sleep hygiene is important within the context of burnout, it has not been discussed as a target within these interventions, despite these interventions being sleep hygiene approaches.

This systematic review has contributed to the literature by collecting and summarising the available evidence of burnout interventions for nurses that include sleep hygiene practices. This systematic review of the 12 studies included has highlighted that:

• The evidence is limited to establish conclusions around which interventions are more effective than others given the limitations discussed above that highlight the

heterogeneity of burnout measurement tools and interventions used, and that certain studies did not provide in-depth descriptions about how the interventions were administered,

- Given that the risk of bias assessment highlighted that majority of studies were of low quality and only one was considered as having a low risk of bias, this generates the need to address these domains of bias in future studies in order to bring up the quality of work in the field,
- Combining multiple sleep hygiene practices including mindfulness, meditation, and yoga may be helpful in reducing burnout amongst nurses (Bazarko et al., 2013; Duarte & Pinto-Gouveia, 2016; Patronis & Staffileno, 2021; Qualls et al., 2022),
- Emphasising consistency with practicing outside of scheduled formal sessions could be helpful, as a dose-response may be important to establish significant effects (Duarte & Pinto-Gouveia, 2016),
- Individual interventions such as gong meditation, inhaling patchouli oil, and yoga interventions require further research/replication to support their effectiveness in alleviating burnout in nurses (Alexander et al., 2015; Hsieh et al., 2022; Lynes et al., 2019; Shin et al., 2020),
- Sleep hygiene is not typically discussed in burnout interventions, despite its relevance to burnout and these interventions falling under the sleep hygiene umbrella,
- There is no long-term evidence for the effectiveness of any interventions, thus future intervention studies need to include a longer follow up period.

## CONCLUSION

This systematic review provided an overview of existing literature on burnout interventions for nurses that included sleep hygiene practices. The pilot study designs, different burnout measurement tools, lack of details about administration provided by particular studies, as well as the low quality of majority of the studies, raised questions of the reliability and validity of the reported burnout scores. The findings from this systematic review have established that there is not enough evidence to make specific recommendations for future hospital policies and guidelines to better support nurses' wellbeing. With reference to New Zealand (NZ), there were no studies conducted in NZ to date, highlighting the gaps in the literature that need to be addressed in future research.

### REFERENCES

- Adams, A. S., Soumerai, S. B., Lomas, J., & Ross-Degnan, D. (1999). Evidence of self-report bias in assessing adherence to guidelines. *International Journal for Quality in Health Care*, 11(3), 187-192. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/intqhc/11.3.187</u>
- Aiken, L. H., Clarke, S. P., Sloane, D. M., Sochalski, J., & Silber, J. H. (2002). Hospital nurse staffing and patient mortality, nurse burnout, and job dissatisfaction. *Jama*, 288(16), 1987-1993. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.288.16.1987</u>
- Alexander, G. K., Rollins, K., Walker , D., Wong, L., & Pennings, J. (2015). Yoga for self-care and burnout prevention among nurses. *Workplace health & safety*, 63(10), 462-470. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/2165079915596102</u>
- Ali, B., Al-Wabel, N. A., Shams, S., Ahamad, A., Khan, S. A., & Anwar, F. (2015). Essential oils used in aromatherapy: A systemic review. *Asian Pacific Journal of Tropical Biomedicine*, 5(8), 601-611. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apjtb.2015.05.007</u>
- Askey-Jones, R. (2018). Mindfulness-based cognitive therapy: An efficacy study for mental health care staff. *Journal of psychiatric and mental health nursing*, 25(7), 380-389. https://doi.org/10.1111/jpm.12472
- Bacharach, S. B., Bamberger, P., & Conley, S. (1991). Work-home conflict among nurses and engineers: Mediating the impact of role stress on burnout and satisfaction at work. *Journal of organizational Behavior*, 12(1), 39-53. https://doi.org/10.1002/job.4030120104
- Bajwa, H., & Al Khalili, Y. (2021). Physiology, vibratory sense. In *StatPearls [Internet]*. StatPearls Publishing.
- Bazarko, D., Cate, R. A., Azocar, F., & Kreitzer, M. J. (2013). The impact of an innovative mindfulness-based stress reduction program on the health and well-being of nurses employed in a corporate setting. *Journal of workplace behavioral health*, 28(2), 107-133. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/15555240.2013.779518</u>
- Belur, J., Tompson, L., Thornton, A., & Simon, M. (2021). Interrater reliability in systematic review methodology: Exploring variation in coder decision-making. *Sociological methods & research*, 50(2), 837-865. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0049124118799372</u>
- Bethlehem, J. (2010). Selection bias in web surveys. *International statistical review*, 78(2), 161-188. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1751-5823.2010.00112.x</u>
- Bishop, S. R. (2002). What do we really know about mindfulness-based stress reduction? *Psychosomatic medicine*, 64(1), 71-83. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/00006842-200201000-00010</u>
- Black, D. S., O'Reilly, G. A., Olmstead, R., Breen, E. C., & Irwin, M. R. (2015). Mindfulness meditation and improvement in sleep quality and daytime impairment among older adults with sleep disturbances: a randomized clinical trial. *JAMA internal medicine*, 175(4), 494-501. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/jamainternmed.2014.8081</u>
- Bottomley, J. M. (2004). Qi gong for health and healing. *Complementary Therapies in Rehabilitation: Evidence for Efficacy in Therapy, Prevention, and Wellness*, 253.
- Boutron, I., Page, M. J., Higgins, J. P., Altman, D. G., Lundh, A., Hróbjartsson, A., & Group, C.B. M. (2019). Considering bias and conflicts of interest among the included studies.

*Cochrane handbook for systematic reviews of interventions*, 177-204. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781119536604.ch7

- Brown, F. C., Buboltz Jr, W. C., & Soper, B. (2002). Relationship of sleep hygiene awareness, sleep hygiene practices, and sleep quality in university students. *Behavioral medicine*, 28(1), 33-38. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/08964280209596396</u>
- Buysse, D. J. (2014). Sleep health: can we define it? Does it matter? *Sleep*, *37*(1), 9-17. https://doi.org/10.5665/sleep.3298
- Caparrotta, T. M., Dear, J. W., Colhoun, H. M., & Webb, D. J. (2019). Pharmacoepidemiology: Using randomised control trials and observational studies in clinical decision-making. *British journal of clinical pharmacology*, 85(9), 1907-1924. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/bcp.14024</u>
- Cecil, J., McHale, C., Hart, J., & Laidlaw, A. (2014). Behaviour and burnout in medical students. *Medical education online*, 19(1), 25209. <u>https://doi.org/10.3402/meo.v19.25209</u>
- Clifford, K. (2018). Improving Sleep: Promoting Sleep Hygiene Techniques.
- Cordes, C. L., & Dougherty, T. W. (1993). A review and an integration of research on job burnout. Academy of management review, 18(4), 621-656. <u>https://doi.org/10.5465/amr.1993.9402210153</u>
- Critical Appraisal Skills Programme [CASP]. (n.d).
- Duarte, J., & Pinto-Gouveia, J. (2016). Effectiveness of a mindfulness-based intervention on oncology nurses' burnout and compassion fatigue symptoms: A non-randomized study. *International journal of nursing studies*, 64, 98-107. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2016.10.002</u>
- Dyrbye, L. N., Meyers, D., Ripp, J., Dalal, N., Bird, S. B., & Sen, S. (2018). A pragmatic approach for organizations to measure health care professional well-being. *NAM Perspectives*. <u>https://doi.org/10.31478/201810b</u>
- El-Ibiary, S. Y., Yam, L., & Lee, K. C. (2017). Assessment of burnout and associated risk factors among pharmacy practice faculty in the United States. *American journal of pharmaceutical education*, 81(4). <u>https://doi.org/10.5688/ajpe81475</u>
- Ekstedt, M. (2005). Burnout and sleep. Karolinska Institutet (Sweden).
- Eriksen, M. B., & Frandsen, T. F. (2018). The impact of patient, intervention, comparison, outcome (PICO) as a search strategy tool on literature search quality: a systematic review. *Journal of the Medical Library Association: JMLA*, 106(4), 420. <u>https://doi.org/10.5195/jmla.2018.345</u>
- Fogarty, T. J., Singh, J., Rhoads, G. K., & Moore, R. K. (2000). Antecedents and consequences of burnout in accounting: Beyond the role stress model. *Behavioral Research in accounting*, *12*, 31-68.
- Fortney, L., Luchterhand, C., Zakletskaia, L., Zgierska, A., & Rakel, D. (2013). Abbreviated mindfulness intervention for job satisfaction, quality of life, and compassion in primary care clinicians: a pilot study. *The Annals of Family Medicine*, 11(5), 412-420. <u>https://doi.org/10.1370/afm.1511</u>

- Fullagar, H. H., Skorski, S., Duffield, R., Hammes, D., Coutts, A. J., & Meyer, T. (2015). Sleep and athletic performance: the effects of sleep loss on exercise performance, and physiological and cognitive responses to exercise. *Sports medicine*, 45(2), 161-186. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s40279-014-0260-0</u>
- Galanis, P., Vraka, I., Fragkou, D., Bilali, A., & Kaitelidou, D. (2021). Nurses' burnout and associated risk factors during the COVID-19 pandemic: A systematic review and metaanalysis. *Journal of advanced nursing*, 77(8), 3286-3302. https://doi.org/10.1111/jan.14839
- Gauthier, T., Meyer, R. M., Grefe, D., & Gold, J. I. (2015). An on-the-job mindfulness-based intervention for pediatric ICU nurses: A pilot. *Journal of pediatric nursing*, *30*(2), 402-409. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pedn.2014.10.005</u>
- Genly, B. (2016). Safety and job burnout: Understanding complex contributing factors. *Professional Safety*, *61*(10), 45-49.
- Gil-Monte, P. R. (2008). Magnitude of relationship between burnout and absenteeism: a preliminary study. *Psychological reports*, *102*(2), 465-468. <u>https://doi.org/10.2466/pr0.102.2.465-468</u>
- Goodare, P. (2017). Literature review: Why do we continue to lose our nurses? *Australian Journal of Advanced Nursing, The, 34*(4), 50-56.
- Grant, B. M., & Giddings, L. S. (2002). Making sense of methodologies: A paradigm framework for the novice researcher. *Contemporary nurse*, *13*(1), 10-28. <u>https://doi.org/10.5172/conu.13.1.10</u>
- Hanisch, T. (2022). C. Schwilk University of Massachusetts].
- Haze, S., Sakai, K., & Gozu, Y. (2002). Effects of fragrance inhalation on sympathetic activity in normal adults. *Japanese journal of pharmacology*, 90(3), 247-253. <u>https://doi.org/10.1254/jjp.90.247</u>
- Henry, B. J. (1969). Nursing burnout interventions. *Number 2/April 2014, 18*(2), 211-214. https://doi.org/10.1188/14.cjon.211-214
- Herda, D. N., & Lavelle, J. J. (2012). The auditor-audit firm relationship and its effect on burnout and turnover intention. *Accounting Horizons*, 26(4), 707-723. <u>https://doi.org/10.2308/acch-50181</u>
- Higgins, J. P., Savović, J., Page, M. J., Elbers, R. G., & Sterne, J. A. (2019). Assessing risk of bias in a randomized trial. *Cochrane handbook for systematic reviews of interventions*, 205-228. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/9781119536604.ch8</u>
- Hsieh, H. F., Huang, Y. T., Ma, S. C., & Wang, Y. W. (2022). Occupational burnout and stress of nurses in Taiwan regarding COVID-19: An intervention with gong meditation. *Journal of Nursing Management*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jonm.13653</u>
- Huberty, J. L., Green, J., Puzia, M. E., Larkey, L., Laird, B., Vranceanu, A.-M., Vlisides-Henry, R., & Irwin, M. R. (2021). Testing a mindfulness meditation mobile app for the treatment of sleep-related symptoms in adults with sleep disturbance: A randomized controlled trial. *Plos one*, *16*(1), e0244717. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0244717

- Ilhan, M. N., Durukan, E., Taner, E., Maral, I., & Bumin, M. A. (2008). Burnout and its correlates among nursing staff: questionnaire survey. *Journal of advanced nursing*, 61(1), 100-106. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2648.2007.04476.x</u>
- Innes, K. E., & Selfe, T. K. (2012). The effects of a gentle yoga program on sleep, mood, and blood pressure in older women with restless legs syndrome (RLS): A preliminary randomized controlled trial. *Evidence-Based Complementary and Alternative Medicine*, 2012. <u>https://doi.org/10.1155/2012/294058</u>
- Irish, L. A., Kline, C. E., Gunn, H. E., Buysse, D. J., & Hall, M. H. (2015). The role of sleep hygiene in promoting public health: A review of empirical evidence. *Sleep medicine reviews*, 22, 23-36. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.smrv.2014.10.001</u>
- Kristensen, T. S., Borritz, M., Villadsen, E., & Christensen, K. B. (2005). The Copenhagen Burnout Inventory: A new tool for the assessment of burnout. *Work & stress*, 19(3), 192-207. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/02678370500297720</u>
- Lebares, C. C., Hershberger, A. O., Guvva, E. V., Desai, A., Mitchell, J., Shen, W., Reilly, L. M., Delucchi, K. L., O'Sullivan, P. S., & Ascher, N. L. (2018). Feasibility of formal mindfulness-based stress-resilience training among surgery interns: a randomized clinical trial. *JAMA surgery*, *153*(10), e182734-e182734. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamasurg.2018.2734
- Le Blanc, P. M., & Schaufeli, W. B. (2008). Burnout interventions: An overview and illustration. *Handbook of stress and burnout in health care*, 201-215.
- Leiter, M. P. (1990). The impact of family resources, control coping, and skill utilization on the development of burnout: A longitudinal study. *Human relations*, 43(11), 1067-1083. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/001872679004301102</u>
- Leon, A. C., Davis, L. L., & Kraemer, H. C. (2011). The role and interpretation of pilot studies in clinical research. *Journal of psychiatric research*, 45(5), 626-629. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychires.2010.10.008</u>
- Lillehei, A. S., & Halcon, L. L. (2014). A systematic review of the effect of inhaled essential oils on sleep. *The Journal of Alternative and Complementary Medicine*, 20(6), 441-451. https://doi.org/10.1089/acm.2013.0311
- Liu, K., Chen, Y., Wu, D., Lin, R., Wang, Z., & Pan, L. (2020). Effects of progressive muscle relaxation on anxiety and sleep quality in patients with COVID-19. *Complementary therapies in clinical practice*, 39, 101132. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ctcp.2020.101132</u>
- Lo, H., Leung, J., Chau, G., Lam, M., Lee, K., & Ho, A. (2017). Factors affecting sleep quality among adolescent athletes. *Sports Nutr Ther*, 2(123), 1-6. <u>https://doi.org/ 10.4172/2473-6449.1000122</u>
- Lynes, L., Kawar, L., & Valdez, R. M. (2019). Can laughter yoga provide stress relief for clinical nurses? *Nursing Management*, 50(6), 30-37. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/01.NUMA.0000558481.00191.78</u>
- Malone, S. K. (2011). Early to bed, early to rise? An exploration of adolescent sleep hygiene practices. *The Journal of School Nursing*, 27(5), 348-354. https://doi.org/10.1177/1059840511410434

- Marsden, E., & Torgerson, C. J. (2012). Single group, pre-and post-test research designs: Some methodological concerns. Oxford Review of Education, 38(5), 583-616. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/03054985.2012.731208</u>
- Martín-Asuero, A., & García-Banda, G. (2010). The mindfulness-based stress reduction program (MBSR) reduces stress-related psychological distress in healthcare professionals. *The Spanish journal of psychology, 13*(2), 897-905. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1138741600002547
- Maslach, C., & Jackson, S. E. (1981). The measurement of experienced burnout. *Journal of organizational Behavior*, 2(2), 99-113. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/job.4030020205</u>
- Maslach, C., & Leiter, M. P. (2017). Understanding burnout: New models. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781118993811.ch3
- Maslach, C., Schaufeli, W. B., & Leiter, M. P. (2001). Job burnout. Annual review of psychology, 52(1), 397-422. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.psych.52.1.397</u>
- Moher, D., Liberati, A., Tetzlaff, J., Altman, D. G., & Group\*, P. (2009). Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses: the PRISMA statement. *Annals of internal medicine*, 151(4), 264-269. <u>https://doi.org/10.7326/0003-4819-151-4-</u> 200908180-00135
- Montanari, K. M., Bowe, C. L., Chesak, S. S., & Cutshall, S. M. (2019). Mindfulness: Assessing the feasibility of a pilot intervention to reduce stress and burnout. *Journal of Holistic Nursing*, *37*(2), 175-188. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0898010118793465</u>
- Munn, Z., Stern, C., Aromataris, E., Lockwood, C., & Jordan, Z. (2018). What kind of systematic review should I conduct? A proposed typology and guidance for systematic reviewers in the medical and health sciences. *BMC medical research methodology*, 18(1), 1-9. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12874-017-0468-4
- Nuzzo, J. (2021). Volunteer bias and female participation in exercise and sports science research. Quest, 73(1), 82-101. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00336297.2021.1875248</u>
- Pagnin, D., de Queiroz, V., Carvalho, Y. T. M. S., Dutra, A. S. S., Amaral, M. B., & Queiroz, T. T. (2014). The relation between burnout and sleep disorders in medical students. *Academic Psychiatry*, 38(4), 438-444. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s40596-014-0093-z</u>
- Pan, C., Wang, H., Chen, M., Cai, Y., Xiao, C., Tang, Q., & Koniak-Griffin, D. (2019). Mindfulness-based intervention for nurses in AIDS care in China: A pilot study. *Neuropsychiatric Disease and Treatment*, 15, 3131. <u>https://doi.org/10.2147/NDT.S223036</u>
- Patel, R. S., Bachu, R., Adikey, A., Malik, M., & Shah, M. (2018). Factors related to physician burnout and its consequences: a review. *Behavioral sciences*, 8(11), 98. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/bs8110098</u>
- Patronis, S., & Staffileno, B. A. (2021). Favorable outcomes from an in-person and online feasibility Mindful Moment pilot study. *Holistic Nursing Practice*, 35(3), 158-166. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/HNP.000000000000443</u>
- Pemberton, E., & Turpin, P. G. (2008). The effect of essential oils on work-related stress in intensive care unit nurses. *Holistic Nursing Practice*, 22(2), 97-102. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/01.HNP.0000312658.13890.28</u>

- Pujiarti, R., Ohtani, Y., Widowati, T. B., Wahyudi, W., Kasmudjo, K., Herath, N. K., & Wang, C. N. (2012). Effect of melaleuca leucadendron, cananga odorata and pogostemon cablin oil odors on human physiological responses. *Wood Research Journal*, 3(2), 100-105. <u>https://doi.org/10.51850/wrj.2012.3.2.100-105</u>
- Quach, J., & Lee, J.-A. (2017). Do music therapies reduce depressive symptoms and improve QOL in older adults with chronic disease? *Nursing2022*, 47(6), 58-63. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/01.NURSE.0000513604.41152.0c</u>
- Qualls, B. W., Payton, E. M., Aikens, L. G., & Carey, M. G. (2022). Mindfulness for Outpatient Oncology Nurses: A Pilot Study. *Holistic Nursing Practice*, 36(1), 28-36. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/HNP.000000000000487</u>
- Renjith, V. (2017). Blinding in randomized controlled trials: What researchers need to know? *Manipal Journal of Nursing and Health Sciences (MJNHS), 3*(1), 45-50.
- Riegel, B., & Weaver, T. E. (2009). Poor sleep and impaired self-care: towards a comprehensive model linking sleep, cognition, and heart failure outcomes. *European Journal of Cardiovascular Nursing*, 8(5), 337-344. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejcnurse.2009.06.003</u>
- Royal, K. D., Hunt, S. A., Borst, L. B., & Gerard, M. (2018). Sleep hygiene among veterinary medical students. *Journal of Education and Health Promotion*, 7. <u>https://doi.org/10.4103/jehp.jehp\_114\_17</u>
- Rudkin, E., Medvedev, O. N., & Siegert, R. J. (2018). The Five-Facet Mindfulness Questionnaire: Why the observing subscale does not predict psychological symptoms. *Mindfulness*, 9(1), 230-242. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12671-017-0766-2</u>
- Sabagh, Z., Hall, N. C., & Saroyan, A. (2018). Antecedents, correlates and consequences of faculty burnout. *Educational Research*, 60(2), 131-156. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00131881.2018.1461573</u>
- Saeed, S. A., Cunningham, K., & Bloch, R. M. (2019). Depression and anxiety disorders: Benefits of exercise, yoga, and meditation. *American family physician*, 99(10), 620-627.
- Samadi, Z., Jannati, Y., Hamidia, A., Mohammadpour, R. A., & Hesamzadeh, A. (2021). The effect of aromatherapy with lavender essential oil on sleep quality in patients with major depression. *Journal of Nursing and Midwifery Sciences*, 8(2), 67. https://doi.org/10.4103/JNMS\_JNMS\_26\_20
- Schaufeli, W. B., Daamen, J., & Van Mierlo, H. (1994). Burnout among Dutch teachers: An MBI-validity study. *Educational and psychological measurement*, 54(3), 803-812. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0013164494054003027</u>
- Schure, M. B., Christopher, J., & Christopher, S. (2008). Mind–body medicine and the art of self-care: teaching mindfulness to counseling students through yoga, meditation, and qigong. *Journal of Counseling & Development*, 86(1), 47-56. https://doi.org/10.1002/j.1556-6678.2008.tb00625.x
- Shao, M. F., Chou, Y. C., Yeh, M. Y., & Tzeng, W. C. (2010). Sleep quality and quality of life in female shift-working nurses. *Journal of advanced nursing*, 66(7), 1565-1572. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2648.2010.05300.x</u>
- Shin, Y. K., Lee, S.-Y., Lee, J.-M., Kang, P., & Seol, G. H. (2020). Effects of short-term inhalation of patchouli oil on professional quality of life and stress levels in emergency

nurses: A randomized controlled trial. *The Journal of Alternative and Complementary Medicine*, 26(11), 1032-1038. <u>https://doi.org/10.1089/acm.2020.0206</u>

Silvestro, S., & Dalton, A. (2021). Sleep hygiene: what is it and 20 tips for better sleep. Sleep.

- Steinberg, B. A., Klatt, M., & Duchemin, A.-M. (2017). Feasibility of a mindfulness-based intervention for surgical intensive care unit personnel. *American Journal of Critical Care*, 26(1), 10-18. <u>https://doi.org/10.4037/ajcc2017444</u>
- Stepanski, E. J., & Wyatt, J. K. (2003). Use of sleep hygiene in the treatment of insomnia. Sleep medicine reviews, 7(3), 215-225. <u>https://doi.org/10.1053/smrv.2001.0246</u>
- Sterne, J. A., Hernán, M. A., McAleenan, A., Reeves, B. C., & Higgins, J. P. (2019). Assessing risk of bias in a non-randomized study. *Cochrane handbook for systematic reviews of interventions*, 621-641. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/9781119536604.ch25</u>
- Sterne, J. A., Hernán, M. A., Reeves, B. C., Savović, J., Berkman, N. D., Viswanathan, M., Henry, D., Altman, D. G., Ansari, M. T., & Boutron, I. (2016). ROBINS-I: A tool for assessing risk of bias in non-randomised studies of interventions. *Bmj*, 355. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.i4919</u>
- Sterne, J. A., Savović, J., Page, M. J., Elbers, R. G., Blencowe, N. S., Boutron, I., Cates, C. J., Cheng, H.-Y., Corbett, M. S., & Eldridge, S. M. (2019). RoB 2: A revised tool for assessing risk of bias in randomised trials. *Bmj*, 366. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.14898</u>
- Stewart, N. H., & Arora, V. M. (2019). The impact of sleep and circadian disorders on physician burnout. *Chest*, 156(5), 1022-1030. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chest.2019.07.008</u>
- Suñer-Soler, R., Grau-Martín, A., Flichtentrei, D., Prats, M., Braga, F., Font-Mayolas, S., & Gras, M. E. (2014). The consequences of burnout syndrome among healthcare professionals in Spain and Spanish speaking Latin American countries. *Burnout research*, 1(2), 82-89. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.burn.2014.07.004
- Tendal, B., Nüesch, E., Higgins, J. P., Jueni, P., & Gøtzsche, P. C. (2011). Multiplicity of data in trial reports and the reliability of meta-analyses: Empirical study. *Bmj*, 343. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.d4829
- Veiga, G., Rodrigues, A. D., Lamy, E., Guiose, M., Pereira, C., & Marmeleira, J. (2019). The effects of a relaxation intervention on nurses' psychological and physiological stress indicators: A pilot study. *Complementary therapies in clinical practice*, 35, 265-271. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ctcp.2019.03.008
- Vitale, K. C., Owens, R., Hopkins, S. R., & Malhotra, A. (2019). Sleep hygiene for optimizing recovery in athletes: review and recommendations. *International journal of sports medicine*, 40(08), 535-543. <u>https://doi.org/10.1055/a-0905-3103</u>
- Walker, M. P. (2008). Cognitive consequences of sleep and sleep loss. Sleep medicine, 9, S29-S34. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S1389-9457(08)70014-5</u>
- Zhang, Y. Y., Han, W. L., Qin, W., Yin, H. X., Zhang, C. F., Kong, C., & Wang, Y. L. (2018). Extent of compassion satisfaction, compassion fatigue and burnout in nursing: A metaanalysis. *Journal of Nursing Management*, 26(7), 810-819. https://doi.org/10.1111/jonm.12589